
The Mission of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is to protect public health and our environment, providing effective wastewater 
collection, treatment, and resource recovery. 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

     BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

November 7, 2024 

MATERIALS RELATED TO ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA ARE AVAILABLE FOR 

PUBLIC INSPECTION DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS AT THE DISTRICT 

OFFICE, 101 LUCAS VALLEY ROAD, SUITE 300, SAN RAFAEL, OR ON THE DISTRICT 

WEBSITE  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

OPEN SESSION: 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT

This portion of the meeting is reserved for people desiring to address the Board on matters not on the

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting.

CLOSED SESSION: 

2. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION – Significant exposure

to litigation pursuant to subdivision (b) of Gov. Code Section 54956.9 - Two potential cases.

OPEN SESSION:

3. CONSENT CALENDAR

These items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion unless a
request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the staff or the Board.

A. Approve the Board Minutes for October 17, 2024

B. Receive and Ratify the Check Warrant List

C. Approve Transfer of Biosolids Program Monitoring and Research Support Contract to Parsons

D. Approve Contract Amendment No. 1 for GHD Terra Linda Highway 101 Undercrossing Sewer
Lining Project 

E. Approve Award of Contract for Rafael Meadows Fencing Project 

Possible expenditure of funds:  Yes, Item B through E. 

Staff recommendation:  Adopt Consent Calendar – Items A through E. 

4:00 PM 

Estimated 
Time 

4:45 PM 

4:05 PM 

1

http://www.lgvsd.org/


November 7, 2024 Page 2 of 3 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

4. INFORMATION ITEMS:

STAFF/CONSULTANT REPORTS:

1. General Manager Report – verbal

2. Administration Department Report – written

3. Quarterly Financial Report – written

4. Presentation of GFOA Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting - written

5. Collections/Maintenance/Safety Department Report - written

5. AWARD OF CONTRACT TO HAZEN AND SAWYER FOR BIOSOLIDS MANAGEMENT
STRATEGY

Board to review and approve the award of contract to Hazen and Sawyer for biosolids management
strategy.

6. 101 LUCAS VALLEY ROAD OFFICE LEASE RENEWAL

Board to review and approve the proposed office lease renewal for the Administration office located
at 101 Lucas Valley Road.

7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS:

1. CLARK
a. NBWA Board Committee, Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee,

Fleet Management Ad Hoc Committee,  FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee,
Energy Ad Hoc Committee, CASA Workforce Committee, Other Reports

2. MURRAY
a. Marin LAFCo, Flood Zone 6, Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, CASA Energy Committee,

Development Ad Hoc Committee, San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee,
Energy Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports

3. NITZBERG
a. Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee,

Fleet Management Ad Hoc Committee,  McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee
San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports

4. ROBARDS
a. Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, NBWRA,  Engineering Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,

McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee,  Development Ad Hoc Committee,
FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports

5. YEZMAN
a. Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  Ad Hoc Engineering Committee  re: STPURWE,

Marin Special Districts, Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports

8. BOARD REQUESTS:
A. Board Meeting Attendance Requests – Verbal

B. Board Agenda Item Requests – Verbal

6:05 PM 

5:30 PM 

 5:40  PM 

 5:50  PM 

5:00 PM 

2



November 7, 2024 Page 3 of 3 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

9. VARIOUS INDUSTRY RELATED ARTICLES

10. ADJOURNMENT

     FUTURE BOARD MEETING DATES: NOVEMBER 21 AND DECEMER 5, 2024 

CERTIFICATION:  I, Teresa Lerch, Board Secretary of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, hereby 
declare under penalty of perjury that on or before November 4, 2024  at 4:00 pm I posted the Agenda for the 
Board Meeting of said Board to be held on November 7, 2024 at the District Office, located at 101 Lucas 
Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA. 

DATED: November 4, 2024 

_______________________ 
Teresa Lerch 
Board Secretary 

 _________________________________________________________________  

The Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District meets regularly on the first and third Thursday of  
each month. The District may also schedule additional special meetings for the purpose of completing unfinished 
business and/or study sessions. Regular meetings are held at the District Office, 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, 
San Rafael, CA.  

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), if you need special assistance 
to participate in this meeting, please contact the Board Secretary at the District at (415) 472-1734 at least 24 hours 
prior to the meeting. Notification prior to the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable disability-
related modifications or accommodations, including auxiliary aids or services, to help ensure accessibility to 

this meeting. 

6:10 PM 

AGENDA APPROVED: Craig K. Murray, President Patrick Richardson, Legal Counsel 

6:20  PM 

3



 

 
 

 

11/7/2024 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on 

matters not on the agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District. Presentations are generally limited to three minutes. All matters 

requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or placed on a 

future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 
 

AGENDA ITEM 1 

4



 

 
 

 

11/7/2024 
 

CLOSED SESSION 

 Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

□ Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 2 

5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\11072024\ASR Biosolids GHD to Parsons.docx  Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 
 (415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Meeting Date: November 7, 2024 
Re: GHD Contract Amendment for the Transfer of Biosolids Program and Research 

Project Support Services to Parsons Corporation 
Item Type:   Consent___X___ Action___ ____ Information_______ Other________  

Standard Contract:    Yes__X__   No_____(See attached)  Not Applicable_______ 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve: 

1. GHD Contract Amendment 1 (Attachment 1) for the change in Scope of Work and fee only to 
services performed as of October 17, 2024 for the Biosolids Program and Research Project 
Support Services (GHD Contract) dated October 18, 2022. 

2. A new Agreement with Parsons Corporation for the transfer of the remainder of the GHD contract 
in the amount of $463,307.82, including an additional $162,192.18 in new services for a new 
contract amount of $625,000 (see Attachment 2 for Parson’s proposal). 

BACKGROUND 
In August 2024, Mary Martis informed District staff that she moved to Parsons Corporation from GHD 
and offered the District an option to transfer to Parsons the remainder of the GHD contract anticipated to 
expire in February 2026. Mary Martis reported that she obtained authorization to offer such an option to 
the District with appropriate GHD and Parsons staff. District staff considered and accepted the offer 
based on Mary Martis’ institutional knowledge of the Purdue University PFAS research study 
(Unregulated Organic Chemicals in Biosolids: Prioritization, Fate and Risk Evaluation for Land 
Application) and the immediate needs of the Biosolids Land Application Services 2024 project with 
Custom Tractor Service (Neal Carstensen), which was about to start at the time. It should be noted that 
prior to joining GHD, Mary Martis was engaged in the early stages of the District’s biosolids program as 
HDR’s project manager and the District transferred HDR’s contract to GHD to ensure continuity of the 
PFAS research program as well as the broader biosolids management project. The City of Santa Rosa 
also transferred a similar biosolids project management contract with GHD to Parsons due to Mary 
Martis moving to Parsons. 
 
Also moving to Parsons with Mary Martis from the GHD project team is Justin Steere, who is responsible 
for the testing requirements of this year’s contract with Custom Tractor Service and last year’s contract 
with Synagro. 
 
To effectuate the transfer of services, and in lieu of a mutual termination or a termination for 
convenience, District staff and GHD agreed to a contract amendment for a change in scope and fee only 
to services performed as of October 17, 2024, for a revised final contract amount of $437,526.18. An 
adjusted amount of $463,307.82 from the remaining balance of $513,307.82 from the original contract 

Item Number______3C______ 

GM Review   _______CP_______ 

 

21

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\11072024\ASR Biosolids GHD to Parsons.docx  Page 2 of 2 

amount of $950,834.00 will be transferred to Parsons. This amount also covers additional testing 
requirements and tasks requested by Purdue University for the PFAS research program. 
 
In addition to the transfer of $463,307.82 to Parsons, and in response to District staff request, Parsons 
submitted an additional fee estimate in the amount of $162,192.18 to provide support for testing 
requirements of the ongoing State’s General Waste Discharge Order and additional services for Custom 
Tractor Service and District staff during both the ongoing 2024-2025 and future 2025-2026 biosolids land 
application projects, which are not included in the original GHD contract. The additional amount of 
$162,192.18 for testing services and additional support for Custom Tractor Service, when pro-rated and 
added to this year’s contract with Parsons is still less than last year’s contract with Synagro who 
performed the same services as part of their biosolids land application project. 
 
Staff reviewed Parson’s proposal and deemed the total fee estimate of $625,500 reasonable. District 
legal counsel reviewed the changes to the agreement recommended by Parsons’ attorneys and both 
parties agreed as to form. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION(S) 
Board approved the Award of Contract for Biosolids Program and Research Project Support Services to 
GHD on October 6, 2022. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
This project was previously approved in the District’s Capital Improvement Program. The additional 
expenditures in the amount of $112,192.18 will be funded from the existing operating and maintenance 
budget for this fiscal year 2024-2025 with the remaining balance of expenditures to be added to next year’s 
budget. 

22



 1 of 2 2-27-2012 DB 

AMENDMENT No. 1 

AGREEMENT 

FOR CONSULTATION AND PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 
 

BIOSOLIDS PROGRAM AND RESEARCH PROJECT SUPPORT SERVICES 

(JOB NO. 21500-08) 

  

 THIS AMENDMENT made this ______ day of ________________ 2024 by and 

between the LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT (hereinafter referred to as 

“District”), and GHD, whose address is, 655 Montgomery Street, Suite 1010, San Francisco, 

CA 94111 (hereinafter referred to as “Consultant”); 

 

 WHEREAS, the original Agreement between both parties dated October 18, 2022 is 

amended and supplemented as follows; and  

 

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which are hereby acknowledged, the parties do hereby agree as follows: 

 

1. Change in Scope of Work.   

a. GHD has completed the Scope of Work up to October 17, 2024. Upon mutual 

agreement between GHD and the District, any remaining tasks are removed from the 

Agreement. Therefore, this Amendment is to formalize the new reduced Scope of 

Work. 

 

b. The Scope of Work completed includes the following: 

i. Task 1: Develop Biosolids and Site Characterization Work Plan and Sampling 

and Analysis Plan (Completed) 

ii. Task 2: Implement Characterization Work Plan and Prepare Report 

(Completed for 2023) 

iii. Task 3: Establish Inspection and Oversight Program SOP (Completed for 2023 

and 2024) 

iv. Task 4: Prepare Pre-Application Report (Completed for 2023 and 2024) 

v. Task 5: MRP Implementation 2023-2025 (Completed for 2023 and up to 

September 2024) 

vi. Task 6: Project management (Completed for 2023 and up to September 2024) 

vii. Task 7: Research Project Support (Completed up to September 2024) 

viii. Task 8: Assess Future Biosolids Management Alternatives (Completed for 

2023 and 2024) 

 

c. Any work associated with the above tasks from October 17, 2024 onwards is no 

longer in GHD’s scope of services. With the reduction in fee and payment of all 

outstanding invoices, all obligations of both GHD and the District are fulfilled. 

 

d. Contract Summary: 

Date 

i. Original Contract    $950,834.00             October 18, 2022 

ii. This Amendment  <$513,307.82> October 17, 2024 

iii. Final Contract Amount   $437,526.18  

 

2. Successors And Assigns.  This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the successors and permitted assigns of the parties hereto. 

 

23

pquinn
Text Box
Attachment 1



 2 of 2 2-27-2012 DB 

3. Entire Agreement.  Except as expressly modified by this Amendment, the Agreement 

shall be and remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms and shall constitute the 

legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligations to the parties.  This Amendment and the 

Agreement (including any written amendments thereto), collectively, are the complete agreement 

of the parties and supersede any prior agreements or representations, whether oral or written, 

with respect thereto. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Amendment to be duly executed 

by their authorized representatives. 

 

     LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 

 

     By _____________________________________________ 

     Curtis Paxton, General Manager   Date 

 

     GHD 

 

     ________________________________________________ 

      Signature     Date 

 

     By _____________________________________________ 

      Print Name   Title 
 

J:\PROJECTS\21000\21500-08 BIOSOLIDS\Biosolids Program and Research Project Support Services\Contract - GHD\Amendment 1 

24



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 1 of 22 

1 

October 30, 2024 

Mr. Mike Cortez, PE 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 300 Smith Ranch Road 
San Rafael, CA 94903 
Submitted via email: mcortez@lgvsd.org 

Subject: Proposal to Provide Professional Services: Biosolids Management Program and Research Project Support 

Dear Mike: 

Thank you for the opportunity to support Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (District) with its biosolids management 

program and biosolids-related research project (Project). As you are aware, about seven years ago, the District and its 

Board established a goal of shifting from biosolids land disposal to beneficial use – beneficial use targeting land 

application of the District’s Class B biosolids to support farming operations on up to 304 acres of District-owned 

agricultural lands located adjacent to its wastewater treatment plant. The District also explored the idea of providing a 

biosolids management solution for other Marin County wastewater agencies as a regional land application site or 

composting operation. Alternatives for establishing an economically viable, long-term biosolids management program 

were evaluated in 2017/2018 at a high-level including: 

 Dewatering and land application of Class B biosolids, 

 On-site composting of Class B biosolids to create a Class A product, and 

 Expansion of the alternative/potential biosolids management programs to a regional operation that could support 

county-wide management needs. 

Since setting its goal to move from disposal to beneficial use of biosolids, the District has successfully enrolled under 

the State’s General Waste Discharge Requirements for the Discharge of Biosolids to Land for Use as a Soil 

Amendment in Agricultural Activities, Order No. 2004-0012-DWQ (General Order), and joined an EPA National Priorities 

Program as a test site in a three-year research project (with option for one-year extension), Unregulated Organic 

Chemicals in Biosolids: Prioritization, Fate and Risk Evaluations for Land Applications (Research Project). The District 

is now about two years into supporting the Research Project, and after receiving a Notice of Applicability (NOA) 

authorizing the District to land apply biosolids under the General Order, performed its first biosolids land application in 

October of last year (2023).  

The District has also completed a biosolids land application feasibility study, which led to preparing a Notice of Intent 

to land apply biosolids under the General Order and to establishing early partnerships with other Marin County 

wastewater agencies interested in supporting a regional biosolids management solution. The District is currently 

evaluating the feasibility of establishing a compost operation on land that could provide additional or alternative 

management capacity for District biosolids, as well as provide capacity for other agencies seeking a long-term 

management solution. 

The District most recently contracted with GHD, Inc., to deliver program services for the past two years, with Mary 

Martis assigned as GHD’s project manager. The initial scope of services included the following tasks (status/level of 

completion noted in parentheses): 

 Task 1: Develop Biosolids and Site Characterization Work Plan and Sampling and Analysis Plan (Completed 2023; 

no further actions required) 

 Task 2: Implement Characterization Work Plan and Prepare Report (Completed 2023; no further actions required) 

 Task 3: Establish Inspection and Oversight Program SOP (Completed for 2023 and 2024; additional actions 

required for 2025) 

 Task 4: Prepare Pre-Application Report (Completed for 2023 and 2024; additional actions required for 2025) 

25

pquinn
Text Box
Attachment 2



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 2 of 22 

2 

 Task 5: MRP Implementation 2023-2025 (Completed for 2023 and to September 2024; additional actions 

required for 2024 and 2025) 

 Task 6: Project management (Completed for 2023 to September 2024; additional actions required for 2024 and 

2025) 

 Task 7: Research Project Support (Completed up to September 2024; additional actions required for 2024 and 

2025) 

 Task 8: Assess Future Biosolids Management Alternatives (Completed for 2023 and 2024) 

 

The remaining budget from GHD’s contract that will be transferred back to the District is five-hundred-thirteen 

thousand, three-hundred and seven dollars and eighty-two cents ($513,307.82) for the above-listed remaining 

services through the end of 2025 (i.e., Tasks 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7). 

Mary, now with Parsons, has been supporting the District’s biosolids management vision for the past seven years, is a 

key member of the Research Project team, and as our proposed project manager, will provide the institutional 

knowledge and congruency needed to continue to support the District’s biosolids management goal and broader vision 

to create a sustainable program that could provide a long-term biosolids management solution for the District as well 

as interested partner agencies. Mary will continue to deliver the program scope under Parsons, as well as support 

broader District needs associated with its biosolids management program that have developed since initial scope 

inception, including expanded Research Project needs, a shift in land application management, and development of a 

preliminary standard operating procedure (SOP) outlining the activities required for General Order compliance. She has 

assembled a leadership team including Mark Grey of Mark Grey Consulting who has worked alongside her over the 

past five years supporting the District’s biosolids operations planning, and Jeff Gravesen who is a subject matter expert 

in environmental permit compliance with Parsons, Inc. (Parsons). Jeff has identified team members that will perform 

the sampling associated with MRP compliance and the Research Project, as well as provide biosolids application 

oversight. Team members include Justin Steere, Alan Burt, Callie Grant, Yovvani Mojica Perez, and Stephen Bourgeois. 

Copies of team member résumés, including Jeff’s, are included as Exhibit A. 

The following scope of work has been prepared based on remaining program needs as outlined in the initial scope of 

work (i.e., above-listed Tasks), as well as additional needs that have developed as the program has matured over the 

last two years.  

Scope of Work 

As a condition of enrollment under the General Order, the District must participate in the three-year Research Project.1 

The General Order enrollment requirements under the NOA and associated Monitoring and Reporting Program (MRP) 

are directly tied to the Research Project, so coordination of services between the biosolids management program and 

Research Project are critical for overall program compliance and project success.  

The following scope of work has been prepared based on Parsons’ current understanding of the Project – specifically, 

the scope of services needed to maintain compliance with the NOA and associated MRP, as well as to deliver on the 

District’s commitment as a partner and test site for the Research Project, with additional services noted separately to 

support the overall project needs as the program has matured. The scope of services is comprised of the following 

tasks: 

 Task 1: Conduct Sampling and Reporting Needed for NOA/MRP Compliance (Q4 2024/2025/Q1 2026) (relates 

to above-listed initial scope, Task 5) 

 Task 2: Develop Biosolids Management Program SOP for NOA/General Order Compliance (relates to above-listed 

initial scope, Tasks 3 and 4) 

 

1 Note: the Research Project includes a one year option, so the program could extend to a total of four years. 

26



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 3 of 22 

3 

 Task 3: Provide Research Project Support (Q4 2024/2025) (relates to above-listed initial scope, Task 7) 

 Task 4: Project Management Administration and Controls (relates to above-listed initial scope, Task 6) 

 

In addition, the District requires additional services due to changes from the initial scope, as defined in the following 

additional tasks:  

 

 Task A: Prepare Bid Package for Biosolids Land Application Services and Provide Bid and Award Period Services 

(2025/2026) 

 Task B: Biosolids Land Application Services Event Compliance Reporting (2025/2026) 

Task 1: Conduct Sampling and Reporting Needed for NOA/MRP Compliance                         
(Q4 2024/2025/Q1 2026) 

Overview. Parsons will perform the field sampling and associated reporting services as needed for NOA/MRP 

compliance (NOA/MRP dated July 1, 2022).   

The MRP describes requirements for monitoring the District’s biosolids land application program under the NOA, 

specifically:  

 Annual biosolids monitoring, 

 Routine field monitoring,  

 Annual soil monitoring, 

 Quarterly groundwater monitoring for the first year, semi-annual groundwater monitoring thereafter, 

 Monitoring reports summarizing each monitoring event, 

 A Pre-application Report for each land application event, and 

 An Annual Report. 

The NOA included additional sampling and reporting requirements, all of which have were completed prior to the scope 

of work described herein. Additional sampling and reporting requirements that were previously performed by others 

include: 

 Biosolids and Site Characterization Work Plan 

 Biosolids and Site Characterization Report 

 Sampling and Analysis Plan 

 Flood Protection Plan 

The following paragraphs outline Parsons’ proposed Task 1 scope of work, schedule and deliverables, as well as 

estimated level of effort to implement the MRP over the next year-and-a-half (Q4 2024; 2025; Q1 2026). 

27



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 4 of 22 

4 

TASK 1.1: BIOSOLIDS, SOIL, AND GROUNDWATER MONITORING 

Background. A copy of Tables 1 and 2 from Section V, Paragraphs A and B, of the MRP, listing biosolids monitoring 

requirements, and soil monitoring requirements, respectively, follow. Constituent and sampling frequency information 

have been updated in Table 1 based on an email received from the Water Board on August 1, 2024, accepting some 

of the changes to the MRP requested by the District in Q1 2024; changes are indicated in red with strikeout and/or 

bolded format. 

In addition, Tables 3 and 4 from Section V, Paragraphs D and E, respectively, of the MRP, listing groundwater 

monitoring requirements, are copied herein. No requested changes to Tables 3 and 4 of the MRP were accepted by the 

Water Board, however, the addition of language referencing groundwater well purge volume, is shown in red in bolded 

format as well. Text shown in italics has been copied directly from the MRP. 

Annual Biosolids Monitoring Program Requirements listed in MRP 

The Discharger shall sample and analyze biosolids as follows. Results for chemical constituents shall be 

reported in milligrams per kilogram (mg/kg) on a dry-weight basis. Whenever possible and appropriate, 

composite sampling should be conducted (e.g., for metals). 

Table 1. Biosolids Monitoring 

Constituent Units1 Sample Frequency 

EPA Priority Pollutant List mg/kg, µg/kg Once every five years 

Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) µg/kg Once every five years 

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) µg/kg Once every five years 

Metals
2
 mg/kg Once per year 

Cyanide mg/kg Once per every five years  

PCB arochlors, aldrin, dieldfrin
3
 µg/kg Once per every five years 

Semi-volatile organics (SVOCs)
4
 µg/kg Once per every five years 

Total nitrogen mg/kg Once per year 

Ammonia nitrogen (as N) mg/kg Once per year 

Nitrate nitrogen (as N) mg/kg Once per year 

Total phosphorous (as P) mg/kg Once per year 

Total potassium mg/kg Once per year 

pH s.u. Once per year 

Salinity µmhos/cm 
mg/kg 

Once per year 

Total solids content % Once per year 

Percent moisture % Once per year 
1 mg/kg = milligram per kilogram; µg/kg = microgram per kilogram; MPN/100 g = most probable number per 100 grams; 
s.u. = standard units; % = percent; 2 Metals include arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, molybdenum, 
nickel, selenium, silver, and zinc; 3 PCB arochlors, aldrin, dielfdrin; The General Order specifies SW 846 Method 8080; 4 
SVOCs: The General Order specifies EPA Method 8270. 

 

28



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 5 of 22 

5 

Routine Field Monitoring Requirements Listed in the MRP 

The Discharger shall establish and implement an inspection and application oversight program to monitor and control 

biosolids application rates and ensure compliance with the NOA and General Order. Each discrete application field 

shall be managed and monitored as follows: 

1. Pre-application Oversight: 

a. Define crop to be planted. 

b. Calculated allowable loading rate based on soil nitrogen residual data from the previous fall 

and most recent plant available nitrogen (PAN) and moisture content data. 

c. Document communication of allowable loading rates to spreader operator. 

2. Pre-application Inspection: 

a. Verify that setbacks are clearly delineated. 

b. Verify that runoff controls are in place and functional. 

c. Verify that culverts are blocked (where applicable). 

3. Application Oversight: 

a. Verify compliance with setbacks and allowable loading rate. 

b. Verify compliance with soil incorporation requirements. 

4. Post-application Oversight: 

a. Confirm with irrigation manager requirements to control runoff for the specified period 

after application. 

b. Calculate actual biosolids and PAN loading rates. 

c. Note anticipated dates of planting, irrigation, and harvest. 

Soil Monitoring Requirements Listed in MRP 

The Discharger shall establish an annual soil sampling program as follows: one two background sampling locations 

outside of the land application areas (e.g., within application setback areas) and, at least six three sampling locations 

within each discrete land application area identified in the NOA which has been applied with biosolids during the 

calendar year. Sampling locations shall be distributed to be representative of each subarea and predominant soil type. 

Soil sampling is not required if no biosolids are applied to land application areas.  

 

Soil samples shall be collected from each sampling location at the following depths intervals: 0 to 3 12 inches, 4 to 12 

inches, and 13 12-24 inches below ground surface. The top organic layer of soil must be removed prior to taking 

sample. Each sample shall be thoroughly mixed to create a composite sample representative of the depth interval and 

shall be analyzed as specified in the following table [Table 2]. Annual soil samples shall be collected in the fall (fourth 

quarter) and must occur at the same time each calendar year.

29



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 6 of 22 

6 

Table 2. Soil Monitoring 

Constituent/Parameter Units1 Sample Frequency 

Soil Classification (USCS and USDA) -- Annually 
Total Solids % Annually 

Total Alkalinity
2
 mg/kg as CaCO3 Annually 

Cation Exchange Capacity
2
 meq/100 grams Annually 

Electrical Conductivity µmhos/cm 
g/kg, mg/L 

Annually 

Chloride
3
 mg/L Annually 

pH s.u. Annually 

Metals
2, 3, 4

 mg/kg 
mg/L 

Annually 

1 % = percent; mg/kg = milligrams per kilogram; CaCO3 = calcium carbonate; meq/100 grams = milliequivalents per 100 
grams soil; mg/L = milligrams per liter; s.u. = standard units; 2 For specified constituents, results shall be reported on a dry-
weight basis; show calculations; 3 For specified constituents, analysis shall be performed on the extract obtained from using 
the California Waste Extraction Test procedure, with distilled water as the extractant; 4 Metals include arsenic, cadmium, 
chromium, copper, lead, mercury, molybdenum, nickel, selenium, silver, and zinc. 

 

In addition to the changes noted in the above tables (Tables 1 and 2), the Water Board also accepted the following 

requested additional changes: 

• Sampling requirements are limited to parcels receiving land application of biosolids. 

• Soil monitoring to be conducted during Q3 [of each year prior to that year’s planned land application 

event] (instead of Q4). 

The Water Board did not however accept the requested changes to groundwater monitoring requirements (MRP Table 

3) but accepted the addition of language regarding purge volumes as follows and as shown in red and bolded format.

30



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 7 of 22 

7 

Groundwater Monitoring Program Requirements Listed in the MRP 

The groundwater monitoring program applies to the groundwater monitoring wells tabulated below and any 

wells subsequently installed under the Water Board’s direction. 

Table 3. Groundwater Monitoring Well Network 

Parcel Monitoring Well 

155-011-33 MW-01 

155-011-33 MW-02 

155-011-33 MW-03 

155-011-33 MW-04 

155-011-14 MW-05 

155-011-14 MW-06 
155-011-14 MW-07 
155-011-14 MW-08 

155-011-13 MW-09 

155-011-13 MW-10 

Dedicated Land Disposal Area G-1 

Dedicated Land Disposal Area G-3 
Dedicated Land Disposal Area G-4 

Dedicated Land Disposal Area G-5 

 

On July 27, 2021, the Discharger submitted a Monitoring Well Installation Work Plan (Work Plan) to the Water Board 

for review and approval. The Water Board issued comments on the Work Plan on December 15, 2021. A revised Work 

Plan must be approved prior to Work Plan implementation. Upon completion and development of groundwater 

monitoring wells installed in accordance with an approved Work Plan, the Discharger shall implement the following 

groundwater monitoring program for all monitoring wells. Once installed, all new wells shall be added to this 

Monitoring Program and all wells shall be sampled and analyzed according to the schedule below. 

Prior to purging, groundwater elevations shall be measured, and the wells shall be purged of at least three well 

volumes until temperature, pH, and electrical conductivity have stabilized prior to sampling. A lower purge volume may 

be used for very low yield wells, but in no case shall the volume be less than one well volume. Depth to groundwater 

shall be measured to the nearest 0.01 feet. Water table elevations shall be calculated and used to determine 

groundwater gradient and direction of flow. Samples shall be collected using approved EPA methods. Groundwater 

monitoring shall include, at a minimum, constituents specified in the table below. Groundwater elevation shall be 

determined on depth to water measurements using a surveyed measuring point elevation on the well and a surveyed 

reference elevation. 

31



 

8 

 

 

 

 

Table 4. Groundwater Monitoring 

Constituent/Parameter Units1 Type of Sample Sample Frequency2 

Depth to groundwater 0.01 feet Measurement Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Groundwater elevation 0.01 feet Calculated Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Gradient magnitude feet/feet Calculated Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Gradient direction Degrees Calculated Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

pH s.u. Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Electrical conductivity µmhos/cm Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Chloride mg/L Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Nitrate as Nitrogen mg/L-N Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Nitrite as Nitrogen mg/L-N Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Sulfate mg/L Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Metals
3
 mg/L Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Alkalinity mg/L as CaCO3 Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) mg/L Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN) mg/L Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Total Phosphorous mg/L Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Sulfide mg/L Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Cyanide mg/L Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Ammonia mg/L Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Total Organic Carbon (TOC) mg/L Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Total Nitrogen mg/L Calculated Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

Fecal Coliform4 MPN/100 mL Grab Quarterly for first year; semi-annually thereafter 

1 s.u. = standard units; µmhos/cm = micromhos per centimeter; mg/L = milligrams per liter; CaCO3 = calcium carbonate; 2 Semi-annual samples should be 
collected at the end of the dry and wet seasons; 3 Metals include arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, molybdenum, nickel, selenium, silver, 
and zinc; 4 Fecal coliform reported as most probable number of colony-forming units per 100 milliliters. 

 

32



 

9 

 

 

 

Task 1.1 Scope of Work. Parsons will collect the required biosolids, soil, and groundwater samples, as well as perform 

routine field monitoring. The planned sample collection periods for each media type follow in Table 5. See associated 

MRP tables for details.  

Routine field monitoring will be conducted primarily in the third and fourth quarters of each year prior to, during, and 30 

days after the biosolids land application event. 

Note: Parsons will prepare a site-specific Health and Safety Plan (HASP) to inform site workers of known hazards and to 

provide health and safety guidance. The HASP will remain onsite at all times during field activities and will be reviewed 

and signed by all site workers and visitors on a daily basis. 

Note: Biosolids monitoring requirements indicated with a frequency of “once every five years” have already been met and 

are therefore not included in this scope of work. Annual soil monitoring was first conducted in Q4 2023 and most 

recently in Q3 2024; therefore, the next soil sampling should occur in Q3 2025, prior to land application of biosolids. 

33



 

10 

 

 

 

Table 5. Planned Collection Periods for Each Media Type 

Year/Quarter Biosolids Soil Groundwater 

2024 Q4 N/A N/A • Depth to groundwater 
• Groundwater elevation 
• Gradient magnitude 
• Gradient direction 
• pH  
• EC 
• Chloride 
• Nitrate as Nitrogen 
• Nitrite as Nitrogen 
• Sulfate 
• Metals 

• Alkalinity 
• TDS 
• TKN 
• TP 
• Sulfide 
• Cyanide 
• Ammonia 
• TOC 
• Total Nitrogen 
• Fecal Coliform 

Year/Quarter Biosolids Soil Groundwater 

2025 Q2 N/A N/A • Depth to groundwater 
• Groundwater elevation 
• Gradient magnitude 
• Gradient direction 
• pH 
• EC 
• Chloride 
• Nitrate as Nitrogen 
• Nitrite as Nitrogen 
• Sulfate 
• Metals 

• Alkalinity 
• TDS 
• TKN 
• TP 
• Sulfide 
• Cyanide 
• Ammonia 
• TOC 
• Total Nitrogen 
• Fecal Coliform 

Year/Quarter Biosolids Soil Groundwater 

2025 Q31 • Total nitrogen 
• Ammonia nitrogen (as N) 
• Nitrate nitrogen (as N) 
• Total phosphorous (as P) 
• Total potassium 
• pH 
• Salinity 
• % Moisture 

• Soil Classification 
• Total Solids 
• Total Alkalinity 
• Cation Exchange Capacity 
• Electrical Conductivity 
• Chloride 
• pH 
• Metals 

N/A N/A 

Year/Quarter Biosolids Soil Groundwater 

2025 Q4   • Depth to groundwater 
• Groundwater elevation 
• Gradient magnitude 
• Gradient direction 
• pH 
• Electrical conductivity 
• Chloride 
• Nitrate as Nitrogen 
• Nitrite as Nitrogen 
• Sulfate 
• Metals 

• Alkalinity 
• TDS 
• TKN 
• TP 
• Sulfide 
• Cyanide 
• Ammonia 
• TOC 
• Total Nitrogen 
• Fecal Coliform 

1Sampling should occur prior to annual biosolids land application event; target early September sampling with land application to 

begin in mid-September. 

Soil monitoring will include one background soil sampling locations outside of the land application areas (e.g., within 

application setback areas) and at three soil sampling locations within the discrete land application area identified in the 

NOA, which has been applied with biosolids during the calendar year. Sampling locations (in fields where biosolids have 

been land applied) will be distributed to be representative of each subarea and predominant soil type. Soil samples will 

be collected from each sampling location at the following depth intervals: 0.25 feet below grade (fbg), 0.25 to 1 fbg, and 

1 to 2 fbg using a 3-inch diameter bucket hand auger. The top organic layer of soil will be removed prior to taking sample. 

34



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 11 of 22 

11 

Each sample will be thoroughly mixed to create a composite sample representative of the depth interval and will be 

analyzed as specified in the MRP. Results of the annual biosolids and soil monitoring events will be presented in the 

annual summary report required in the MRP.  

Summary of Activities: 

 Complete routine pre-field coordination and notifications. 

 Collect samples per schedule shown in Table 5. 

 Submit all samples to an ELAP-certified analytical laboratory using chain-of-custody protocols and within hold time 

limits. 

Deliverables: 

 HASP (draft/final) 

 Field Notes (email summary) 

 Chain of Custody 

 Analytical Laboratory Test Results 

 Assumptions: 

 The District will continue to land apply biosolids on the dry farm only (APN 155-011-33) 

 No C-57 license required to collect shallow soil samples. 

 Collection of biosolids and soil samples not to exceed 4 days of field work. 

 CalTest (or equal) will be used for analytical laboratory services as a subcontractor to Parsons. 

Estimated Level of Effort:  

 Assumes 20 hours of labor to develop HASP, plus associated site visit. A budget of $5,000 is recommended for 

preparing the HASP. 

 Based on 2024 groundwater sampling events, analytical testing costs were on the order of $21,000. For the 

purpose of estimating groundwater sampling costs for Q4 2024 and 2025, a budget of $70,000 is recommended, 

which includes the estimated cost of labor to plan for and collect the groundwater samples (14 monitoring wells), as 

well as estimated analytical laboratory testing services.  

 Based on Q3 2024 soil sampling costs (i.e., analytical laboratory testing) of $1,550 per sample (excluding mercury), 

a budget of $10,000 is recommended for the single planned soil sampling in Q3 2025, which includes the 

estimated cost of labor to plan for and collect the samples, as well as estimated analytical laboratory testing 

services for both soil sampling and biosolids sampling.     

 

The estimated total cost for services associated with Task 1.1 (Q4 2024 through Q4 2025) is one hundred and six 

thousand dollars ($106,000). 

TASK 1.2: PRE-APPLICATION REPORT AND ROUTINE FIELD MONITORING 

The routine field monitoring task specified in the MRP relates to establishing and implementing an inspection and 

application oversight program to monitor and control biosolids application rates and ensure compliance with the NOA and 

General Order. Each discrete application field shall be managed and monitored as follows: 

1. Pre-application Oversight: 

a. Define crop to be planted. 

b. Calculated allowable loading rate based on soil nitrogen residual data from the previous fall and most recent 

plant available nitrogen (PAN) and moisture content data. 

c. Document communication of allowable loading rates to spreader operator. 

35



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 12 of 22 

12 

2. Pre-application Inspection: 

a. Verify that setbacks are clearly delineated. 

b. Verify that runoff controls are in place and functional. 

c. Verify that culverts are blocked (where applicable). 

3. Application Oversight: 

a. Verify compliance with setbacks and allowable loading rate. 

b. Verify compliance with soil incorporation requirements. 

Parsons anticipates performing site visits during the third and fourth quarters of 2024, and third and fourth quarters of 

2025 to complete the pre-application inspections and application oversite. A summary of the annual routine field 

monitoring events will be presented in each Annual Report as required in the MRP. A summary of activities follows with 

approximate timing for each activity. 

Summary of Activities: 

 Address any comments received from Water Board on 2024 Pre-Application Report and coordinate as needed with 

preparer of 2024 report (prepared by others). 

 Prepare Pre-Application Report (Q3 2025).  

 Oversee spreader operator activities for 2024 and 2025 biosolids land application events and prepare record of 

work documentation needed for permit compliance. Complete application oversight site visits, up to three weeks in 

duration for each scheduled biosolids land application event (Q4 2024; Q4 2025).  

 Complete routine pre-field coordination and notifications (Q3/Q4 2024; Q3/Q4 2025). 

 Complete one pre-application site visit (Q3 2024; Q3 2025). 

 Provide 2024 and 2025 pre-application oversight information to District. 

Deliverables: 

 2025 Pre-Application Report (draft/final) 

 2024 and 2025 Pre-Application Oversight and Inspection Documentation (final) 

 2024 and 2025 Application Oversight Documentation (final) 

 Field Notes (email summary) 

Assumptions: 

 Activities associated with disposal/application of biosolids to the District’s dedicated land disposal (DLD) unit is not 

included in this scope of work, including permit compliance. 

 Annual biosolids applications will continue on dry farm only. 

 There will be one biosolids land application event scheduled per calendar year. 

 Crop to be planted in 2024 was previously defined by others (i.e., not included in this scope of work). Parsons will 

determine crop to be planted in 2025 based on soils and biosolids data. 

 Biosolids allowable field loading rate for 2024 was previously calculated and defined by others (i.e., not included in 

this scope of work). Parson will establish the allowable field loading rate for 2025 based on soils and biosolids data. 

 Documentation of communication of allowable field loading rates for 2024 to spreader operator was performed 

previously by others (i.e., not included in this scope of work). Parson will document communication of allowable field 

loading rates for 2025 to spreader operator. 

 Required setbacks for 2024 were previously defined by others (i.e., not included in this scope of work). Parsons will 

define required setbacks for 2025 biosolids land application event. 

 District to retain contractor for 2025 biosolids land application services (separate from this scope of work). 

 Runoff controls plan (including blocking culverts as applicable) for 2024 were previously developed by others as 

part of the Work Plan included in the 2024 Pre-Application Report (also prepared by others and not included in this 

scope of work). 

36



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 13 of 22 

13 

 District-retained contractor for 2025 biosolids land application services to prepare Work Plan for inclusion with 

2025 Pre-Application Report; District to coordinate with its contractor for timely submission of Work Plan. 

 2025 Pre-Application Report will be prepared under the direction of Mark Grey. 

 2025 Pre-Application Report to be submitted 30 days in advance of planned biosolids land application event; target 

report submission to Water Board by August 1st of 2025 (if practical). 

Estimated Level of Effort:  

 Pre-Application Oversight (Q3 2024; Q3 2025). The recommended budget for pre-application oversight for Q3 2025 

is $15,000, which includes satisfying the MRP requirements as well as producing the Pre-App Report required for 

the planned 2025 biosolids land application event. 

 Pre-Application Inspection (Q3 2024; Q3 2025). The estimated budget for pre-application inspection is two-days of 

labor and assumes an additional cost of $200 in materials (travel; printing), as well as documenting the visit, for a 

total of $6,500. 

 Application Oversight (Q3 2024; Q3 2025). The estimated budget for application oversight is $38,500, which 

assumes 14 consecutive calendar days in the field to record work being performed by spreading operator/District 

contractor, as well as associated travel costs and follow up record generation. 

 

The estimated total cost for services associated with Task 1.2 (Q3/Q4 2024, Q3/Q4 2025) is sixty-six thousand dollars 

($60,000). 

TASK 1.3: ANNUAL REPORT 

Parsons will prepare the needed Annual Report in accordance with NOA/MRP requirements for submission by February 

3, of 2025 (for work performed in 2024) and February 3, 2026 (for work performed in 2025). Parsons will issue the draft 

report to the District for review and comment. The report will be finalized incorporating District comments. Any requests 

from the Water Board to modify or update the Annual Report will be completed by Parsons as long as the requests are 

received by Parsons within three months of issuing the report to the Water Board (i.e., by end of April of the same year). 

Deliverables: 

 2024 and 2025 Annual Reports (draft/final) 

 Response to Water Board Comments on Annual Reports (if needed) 

Assumptions: 

 Annual Reports will be prepared under the direction of Mark Grey. 

 All required test data are available by early December of the reporting year. 

 Any Water Board comments are received by end of April of the same year the Annual Report was issued. 

Estimated Level of Effort:  

 2024 and 2025 Annual Reports. The estimated cost for services to prepare the Annual Reports for work performed 

in 2024 and 2025 is $28,000, including providing a response to Water Board comments (if needed).  

 

The estimated total cost for services associated with Task 1.3 is twenty-eight thousand dollars ($28,000). 

37



 

14 

 

 

 

Task 2: Develop Biosolids Management Program SOP for NOA/General Order Compliance 

Parsons will develop a Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) for implementing the District’s biosolids land application 

program in accordance with the NOA/MRP. The SOP will be formatted in a manner to facilitate stepwise tracking of the 

process needed to implement the biosolids management program, including timeline. 

Parsons will issue the draft SOP by mid-2025 (assume June 2025) for District review and comment. Parson will organize 

and conduct a virtual meeting (up to two hours in duration) to review the draft SOP with the District within one week of 

issuing the draft document. 

Parsons will incorporate compiled written comments received from the District, as well as comments received during the 

draft document review meeting, to finalize the SOP. 

Final SOP will be updated (if needed) at conclusion of 2025 biosolids land application event (i.e., the SOP is meant to be 

a living document and should be updated as the District’s biosolids management program evolves).  

Deliverables: 

 SOP (draft/final/final final) 

Assumptions: 

 The draft SOP will be reviewed once by the District and District comments incorporated to finalize the document. 

 The District will compile all draft document review comments into a single document. Parsons’ preference is to 

receive complied comments from the District in an Adobe PDF format. 

 District comments will be issued by the District within five (5) Business Days of receiving the draft SOP. 

 The draft SOP review meeting will be held in a virtual setting (i.e., Microsoft Teams platform), for up to two hours in 

duration. 

 The SOP will be finalized by early July 2025. 

 Parsons will engage District staff to review SOP as it is being implemented in 2025 by Parsons (to transfer 

knowledge and understanding of program SOP). 

Estimated Level of Effort:  

 An estimated level of effort of about $60,000 is assumed for creating the draft SOP, finalizing the SOP, providing 

guidance/training on the SOP during the scheduled 2025 land application event, and producing a final/final version 

post the 2025 event. 

 

The estimated total cost for services associated with Task 2 is sixty-thousand dollars ($60,000). 

Task 3: Provide Research Project Support (Q4 2024/2025) 

Parsons will provide Research Project services in support of the District’s participation in the Research Project as one of 

three test sites located in the San Francisco Bay Area. Support activities will include: 

 

 Coordination with Purdue University researchers of development and implementation of Research Project Test Plan. 

 Coordination of sampling events with two other wastewater agency test sites. 

 Provide NOA-required input to Annual Reports in 2024 and 2025 summarizing research activities for the reporting 

year. 

 

38



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 15 of 22 

15 

Purdue University has developed a Research Project Test Plan for the remainder of 2024. Table 6, copied from the 

current Research Project Test Plan follows with a list of anticipated sampling needs. 

39



 

   

100 Pringle Avenue, Suite 525, Walnut Creek, California 94596

www.parsons.com

16 
 

 

 

Table 6. Summary of Sampling Needed to Conclude 2024 Research Test Activities 

Soil cores 

Where Sampling dates Objective1 Sampling and storage Quantity  

Dry farmed Summer 2024 1 6-feet soil cores, divided in 1-ft containers for transport, in plastic liner and sealed with caps and parafilm. 3 soil cores 

  

Surface soil 

Where Sampling dates Objective Sampling and storage Quantity  

Dry farmed Summer 2024 1 Composites of the 1-ft cores of the till layer in Ziplock bags. 24 samples per field Cores in triplicate 

 

Biosolids 

Where When Objective Sampling and storage Quantity  

Dry farmed Summer 2024, during biosolids application 1 Taking 4 samples distributed along the application day in 2-hour intervals in 500 ml-HDPE bottles 4 samples 

Run-off water 

Where When Objective Sampling and storage Quantity  

Dry farmed 
After every significant rainfall during 2024-
2025 season 

1 Collect 500 ml samples in amber HDPE bottles for UOCs and 250 ml samples in HDPE bottles for PFAS 
Triplicates for UOCs and 
triplicates for PFAS. 

 

Groundwater 

Where When Objective Sampling and storage Quantity  

MW01 to MW04 Summer 2024 1 Collect 500 ml samples in amber HDPE bottles for UOCs and 250 ml samples in HDPE bottles for PFAS 
Triplicates for UOCs and 
triplicates for PFAS 

MW05 to MW10 Summer 2024 2 Collect 500 ml samples in amber HDPE bottles for UOCs and 250 ml samples in HDPE bottles for PFAS 
Triplicates for UOCs and 
triplicates for PFAS 

 

Irrigation water 

Where When Objective Sampling and storage Quantity  

Irrigated farmed Summer 2024 2 Collect 500 ml samples in amber HDPE bottles for UOCs and 250 ml samples in HDPE bottles for PFAS. 3 times during a 12 or 24 h period. 
Triplicates for UOCs and 
triplicates for PFAS 

 

Crops 

Where When Objective Sampling Quantity and storage 

Dry farmed During harvest 2024 or harvest 2025 1 Composites of each crop tissue type sold (hay) Ziplock bags, double bagged 
150 g composite per 
crop  

Irrigated farmed During harvest 2024 or harvest 2025 2 Composites of each crop tissue type sold (hay) Ziplock bags, double bagged 
150 g composite per 
crop  

1 Objective (1): to assess the persistence and mobility of PFAS and UOCs in the field that started to be applied in 2023; Objective (2): to assess the persistence and mobility of PFAS in the field historically irrigated with treated water. 

40



 

 

  

100 Pringle Avenue, Suite 525, Walnut Creek, California 94596

www.parsons.com

17 
 

Assumptions: 

 The District will receive and manage coolers with bottles, etc. shipped by Purdue University to the Districts WRRF. 

 Parsons will schedule sampling events within the timeframe indicated in Table 5.  

 Parsons will use its own tools as well as those provided by Purdue University to conduct sampling. 

 Purdue University will provide all containers, coolers, and materials needed to contain the samples once collected. 

 Purdue University will provide pre-paid shipping labels. 

 District laboratory staff will make space available for samples requiring overnight holding in the event that shipping 

times cannot be met. 

 District will provide storage of all research project tools, containers, equipment at its WRRF. 

 Company or rented vehicles will be needed to access groundwater wells and test site in general. Parson will provide 

the appropriate vehicle time for site conditions. 

 Parsons will not conduct any sampling events within 48 hours of a significant rainfall or if fields are too wet to 

access. 

 Parsons will do its best to mobilize during rainfall events; Parson may choose to set up an automated sampling 

device (to be provided by Purdue University). 

 Groundwater sampling for Research Project to be coordinated with MRP groundwater sampling for compliance. 

Sampling may or may not occur at the same time but will be conducted as closely as possible (i.e., the groundwater 

wells may not have adequate volume to facilitate collection of compliance monitoring samples and Research Project 

samples at the same time. 

 Irrigation water will be sampled either before or after each planned biosolids land application event (2024; 2025). 

 Assumes crop sampling for 2024 harvest has already been completed by others. 

 District will facilitate any needed coordination with farmer for Research-Project-related sampling events. 

Estimated Level of Effort: 

 The estimated level of effort for implementing the current Research Test Plan for the remainder of 2024 is as 

follows: 

 Soil cores: $25,000 

 Surface soils: $10,000 

 Biosolids: $6,400 

 Run-off water (up to five rainfall events): $16,500 

 Groundwater: $25,000 

 Irrigation water: $3,500 

 Crop samples (2025 harvest): $10,000 

 

The Research Test Plan for 2025 has not yet been developed by Purdue University. Based on historical monthly sampling 

events, which Parsons believes will be reduced to bi-monthly sampling events, as well as the likelihood of additional soil 

core sampling being needed (requires subcontractor), a recommended budget of an additional $46,600 is suggested, 

assuming about three days of labor every-other-month (six months total; up to two field personnel), plus a similar 

sampling requirement around the biosolids land application event. 

 

The estimated total cost for services associated with Task 3 is one-hundred-forty-three thousand dollars ($143,000). 

41



 

 

  

100 Pringle Avenue, Suite 525, Walnut Creek, California 94596

www.parsons.com

18 
 

Task 4: Assess Future Biosolids Management Alternatives (2025) 

The scope of services for this task will be performed on an as-requested basis. A suggested budget of $50,000 for 

services is recommended (based on 2023 and 2024 services provided). 

Task 5: Project Administration and Controls 

Summary of Activities: 

 Project Kick-off Meeting. 

 General project administration and controls. 

 Coordination with GHD for Project records transfer. 

 Bi-weekly check-ins with District. 

Deliverables: 

 Monthly invoices, including progress summary 

 Project Kick-off Meeting agenda and notes (final) 

Assumptions: 

 Invoices will be issued within 15 days from the first of the month following the billing period. 

 Invoices will include a progress summary/report in bullet format. 

Estimated Level of Effort: 

 Level of effort for project controls and administration services, including Project Kick-off Meeting, is estimated at 

$60,307.82. 

42

pquinn
Rectangle

pquinn
Line



 

 

  

100 Pringle Avenue, Suite 525, Walnut Creek, California 94596

www.parsons.com

19 
 

Task A: Prepare Bid Package for Biosolids Land Application Services and Provide Bid and 
Award Period Services (2025/2026) 

At the District’s request, and in good-faith, Mary Martis of Parsons mobilized (without a contract) to prepare the bid 

package for 2024 land application services, as well as provide bid and award period services.  

The intent of this task is to reimburse Parsons for the services provided at-risk to-date, as well as continue to provide bid 

package preparation services and bid and award period services for the needed 2025 and 2026 land application events.  

Parsons will update the bid package for biosolids land application services that was prepared for the 2024 application 

event, and will revise the bid package as needed for the 2026 land application event. Parsons will also provide bid and 

award period services, including conducting a pre-bid site walk and responding to questions from bidders. In addition, 

Parson will assist the District in evaluating bids it receives and making a recommendation of award to the District’s 

Board. Further, Parsons will develop a draft Work Plan (for submission with Pre-App Report) for reference for contract 

awardee. 

Deliverables: 

 Bid Package (draft/final) 

 Bid Package Addenda (draft/final) 

 Bidder’s Proposals Review Comments (final) 

Assumptions: 

 The District will not include dewatering of the liquid biosolids as part of the bid package (i.e., the District will only 

allow spreading by subsurface injection of the District’s Class B biosolids). 

 The District may continue to contract with farmers for biosolids land application services, as well as disposal 

services in its DLD unit. As such, Parsons will develop a draft Work Plan for the contracted farmer that can be used 

for guidance when developing the required Work Plan for inclusion with the Pre-App Report.  

 Up to two (2) addenda to the bid package will be issued in response to questions received from bidders. 

Estimated Level of Effort:  

 An estimated level of effort of 120 hours or about $50,000 is assumed for updating the bid package, as well as 

conducting the pre-bid site walk and responding to bidder questions. An additional 24 hours or $10,000 is assumed 

to review bids received by the District (up to three bids) and provide recommendations. 

 

The estimated total cost for services associated with Task A is sixty thousand dollars ($60,000). 

Task B: Biosolids Land Application Services Event Compliance Reporting (2024/2025/2026) 

The District prepared and issued a bid package in the Summer of 2024 for professional biosolids land application 

services. Due to market conditions, including an acquisition by a professional biosolids management company of one of 

its California competitors, the District only received a single bid for biosolids management services (i.e., land application). 

The bid received was within the Engineer’s Estimate (lower), but took exceptions to some of the scope of services, leaving 

gaps in services associated with General Order compliance requirements for the land application event. Given that 

biosolids management is a time-dependent and critical part of the District’s operation, and the seasonal restrictions 

defined under the General Order limit biosolids land application during dry weather (i.e., May 15th through October 31st), 

the single bidder was selected for award. At the District’s request, and in good-faith, Mary Martis of Parsons mobilized 

(without a contract) to oversee the 2024 land application event as well as fill the gaps in scope of services needed to 

43



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Biosolids Management Program & Research Project Support Services 

October 30, 2024 

Page 20 of 22 

20 

implement the event in accordance with the General Order. Parsons also mobilized personnel to conduct the field testing 

during the land application event needed to support the Research Project. 

The intent of this task is to reimburse Parsons for the services provided at-risk to-date, as well as continue to provide the 

biosolids land application services event compliance reporting services in 2025 should the District opt to extend its 

award of services to the 2024 selected contractor by one year (2025) as outlined in its contract between parties. If the 

Districts opts to not extend the contractor’s performance period by one year, Parsons’ services for this task will not be 

performed, and the needed services for event oversight, will be performed under Task 2. 

Deliverables: 

 Compliance Records and Calculations 

Assumptions: 

 The District will provide analytical laboratory testing services (in-house or by outside laboratory) at the request of 

Parsons and will bear all costs associated with the requested analytical testing (analytical testing will be that as 

required for compliance with the General Order only).  

Estimated Level of Effort:  

 An estimated level of effort of is up to 120 hours per land application event for up to two personnel (2024; 2025), 

or about $64,000.  

 

The estimated total cost for services associated with Task B is sixty-four thousand dollars ($64,000). 

 

44



 

 

  

100 Pringle Avenue, Suite 525, Walnut Creek, California 94596

www.parsons.com

21 
 

Fee Proposal 

The proposed fee for the scope of work outlined herein, reflecting a one-and-a-half-year effort, and services to be 

provided on a time-and-materials (T&M), is six-hundred-seventy-five thousand five hundred dollars ($675,500), not to 

exceed without prior written authorization from the District. This level of effort estimate is based on Parsons’ current 

understanding of Project needs and was developed using a Project-Based Rate Schedule (enclosed separately).  

A summary breakout by task is follows. 

Estimated Fee Breakdown by Task     

Description Estimated Level of Effort 

(labor and materials costs) 

Task 1: Conduct Sampling and Reporting Needed for NOA/MRP Compliance 
(Q4 2024/2025/Q1 2026) 

$200,000 

Task 2: Develop Biosolids Management Program SOP for NOA/General Order 
Compliance 

$60,000 

Task 3: Provide Research Project Support (Q4 2024/2025) $143,000 

Task 4: Assess Future Biosolids Management Alternatives (2025) $50,000 

Task 5: Project Management Administration and Controls  $60,307.82 

  

Subtotal for Remainder of Initial Services: $513,307.82 

Task A: Prepare Bid Package for Biosolids Land Application Services and 
Provide Bid and Award Period Services (2025) 

$60,000 

Task B: Biosolids Land Application Services Event Compliance Reporting 
(2024/2025/2026) 

$64,000 

Additional Project Management Administration and Controls $38,192.18 

Subtotal for Additional Services: $162,192.18 

Total Estimated Fee: $675,500 

 

We appreciate the opportunity to support your forward-thinking biosolids management program and Research Project. If 

you have any questions, please feel free to contact Mary Martis directly. 

 

Sincerely, 

PARSONS 

 

 

Mary Martis, PE  

Vice President, National Water/Wastewater + PFAS Sales Executive 

mary.martis@parsons.com 

Mobile: +1 858.442.1673 

 

45

pquinn
Line

pquinn
Line

pquinn
Text Box
$463,307.82

pquinn
Line

pquinn
Text Box
$625,000

pquinn
Text Box
Revised by LGVSD per conversation between District staff and Parsons on 10/30/2024.



 

 

 Page 1 of 2 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 
To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 
 (415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Mtg. Date: November 7, 2024 

Re: GHD Contract Amendment No. 1 for Terra Linda Trunk Sewer Highway 101 
Undercrossing Lining Project Design 

Item Type:   Consent     X  Action        Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes       X    No     (See attached) Not Applicable             . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve Contract Amendment No. 1 to GHD to add the design of the Terra Linda Trunk 
Sewer Highway 101 Undercrossing Lining into the John Duckett PS Electrical & Terra Linda 
Trunk Sewer Creek Crossing Improvement Design project in the amount of $89,371. 
 
BACKGROUND 
During a design coordination meeting with GHD, District staff determined that it would be prudent 
and cost effective from both design and construction perspectives to combine the Gallinas Creek 
trunk sewer crossing upgrade currently under design by GHD with the Terra Linda Trunk Sewer 
Highway 101 Undercrossing Lining project, which is listed as a separate CIP project for FY 
2024/2025. The two segments of the trunk sewer for both projects are adjacent to each other and 
the proposed upgrades are similar in nature. Combining the projects will provide potential cost 
savings in construction activities such as mobilization/demobilization, temporary controls, 
construction management, and inspection services. In response to District staff request, GHD 
submitted a proposal in the amount of $89,371 for including the design of the lining of 
approximately 455 LF of 24” corrugated asbestos-cement pipe freeway undercrossing. The 
proposal also included the design for the structural and electrical upgrades of the overhead crane 
and miscellaneous valves, actuators, and piping for the pump station. Staff reviewed the 
additional scope of work and deemed the fee proposal reasonable. 
 
The final contract amount with GHD for the combined projects after the addition of Contract 
Amendment No. 1 is $519,082. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On May 16, 2024, the Board approved the contract award to GHD for John Duckett Pump 
Station Electrical Upgrades and Terra Linda Trunk Sewer Creek Crossing Improvements. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The fee proposal of $89,371 is within the FY 2024/2025 budget for the Terra Linda Trunk Sewer 
Highway 101 Undercrossing Lining Project No. 25460-1. 

Item Number_______3D_________ 

GM Review   ________CP________ 

 

46

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 

 

 Page 2 of 2 

 
 
 
 

 
Figure 1. Location Map 

 
 

 

47



 
 
 
 
 

   The Power of Commitment 

GHD  

655 Montgomery Street, Suite 1010 
San Francisco, California 94111 
United States 
www.ghd.com 
 

Our ref: 8410618 
 
 
October 17, 2024 

Mike Cortez 
District Engineer 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
101 Lucas Valley Road, 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

Re: Terra Linda Trunk Sewer and John Duckett Pump Station Design – Amendment 01: Structural 
Sewer Lining, Valve and Actuator Replacement, and Crane Replacement 

Dear Mr. Cortez, 

At the kick-off meeting with Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (District) on August 6, 2024, additional project 
scope topics were discussed. These items were further addressed in a follow-up meeting between the District 
and GHD on September 4, 2024, during which the District identified the following items in the project's scope: 

1. Replace the crane motors and/or the whole crane as it has exceeded useful life. Evaluate structural 
upgrades to extend useful life of new crane. 

2. Replace the valves, actuators, and pump discharge piping up to the header. 

3. Rehabilitate the gravity sewer across the creek and freeway crossings. 

Regarding Item 3, because the condition of the current sewer is unclear, CCTV inspections must be performed 
on all sections being considered for lining. This will help determine whether the existing pipe can support a 
structural liner and whether any spot repairs are necessary.  

GHD would like to request an amendment for the following scope changes: 

 Increase the Task 1 – Project Coordination budget to include project management and coordination for 
an additional one month to assess the feasibility of installing a structural liner in the trunk sewer.  

 Increase the Task 2 – Conceptual Design budget to add cleaning and CCTV of the trunk sewer from 
the John Duckett Pump Station to the nearest manhole upstream of the freeway crossing. This task will 
include reviewing the CCTV inspection provided by our sub-consultant, Subtronic Corporation, 
evaluating the feasibility of structural liner installation, determining if any spot repairs to the pipeline are 
needed, and providing conceptual design drawings. This task will also include conceptual design for 
the replacement of the crane and the valves, actuators, and pump discharge piping up to the header. 
The conceptual design will include a draft and final technical memorandum that evaluates and selects 
a preferred lining method for the trunk sewer.  

 Increase the Task 5, 7, 8, and 9 – 60%, 90%, Final Design, and Bid Support Services budgets to cover 
the designs of the crane replacement, replacement of the valve, actuator, and discharge side of the 
pumps, and design of the sewer lining. 

The following assumptions are included as part of this amendment request: 

48



8410618  |  Re: Terra Linda Trunk Sewer and John Duckett Pump Station Design – Amendment 01: Structural Sewer Lining, Valve and Actuator Replacement, and 
Crane Replacement 2 

 

 The existing trunk sewer has sufficient hydraulic capacity to accommodate the diameter reduction from 
structural lining. The scope of work does not include hydraulic modeling. 

 The District is responsible for obtaining a permit(s) from Caltrans for the freeway crossing. The District 
is also responsible for obtaining a permit from the City of San Rafael, if necessary, for access to the 
work area west of Highway 101. 

 District staff will provide access to the pipeline in question via upstream and downstream manholes for 
both the CCTV inspection and liner installation. This may include coordination with property owners on 
both sides of Highway 101 and obtaining temporary easement(s) to facilitate the work. 

 District is responsible for management of flows during CCTV activities. 

 District will provide preferred manufacturers for valves and actuators, as well as the preferred pipe 
material for the pump discharge piping. 

 Task 3 – Environmental Technical Studies and Task 4 – CEQA Compliance will remain included in the 
scope. Should lining the sewer prove unfeasible, necessitating an alternative method. 

 Currently, there are no changes being made to Task 10 – Construction Support Services. GHD will 
reassess the budget for Task 10 when the project reaches the 90% design phase and the scope of the 
final project is more clearly defined. 

The costs are summarized in the table below and a detailed fee sheet is included in Attachment 1.  

Table 1.1 Amendment Request by Task 

 Current Budget Amendment Request New Budget 

Task 1 $27,349 $1,587 $28,936

Task 2 $16,752 $34,737 $51,489

Task 3 $69,424 $0 $69,424

Task 4 $82,724 $0 $82,724

Task 5 $45,611 $19,995 $65,606

Task 6 $48,999 $0 $48,999

Task 7 $43,136 $19,536 $62,672

Task 8 $14,020 $11,111 $25,131

Task 9 $8,169 $2,404 $10,573

Task 10 $40,607 $0 $40,607

Task 11 $10,581 $0 $10,581

Task 12 $22,342 $0 $22,342

Total $429,711 $89,371 $519,082

49



8410618  |  Re: Terra Linda Trunk Sewer and John Duckett Pump Station Design – Amendment 01: Structural Sewer Lining, Valve and Actuator Replacement, and 
Crane Replacement 3 

 

The project schedule has been adjusted from what was initially proposed. The table below provides the 
updated project schedule. 

Table 1.2 Project Schedule 

Milestone Proposed Timeline   

Amendment Notice-to-Proceed (NTP) November 2024 

CCTV Field Work 1 Week from District Obtaining Permits and Access 
Permissions  

Conceptual Design with Draft Lining Evaluation TM 12 Weeks from CCTV Field Work 

Conceptual Design Review Meeting 2 Weeks from Conceptual Design Submittal 

Final Lining Evaluation TM 2 Weeks from Conceptual Design Review Meeting 

Environmental Technical Studies 4 Months from CCTV Field Work 

CEQA Compliance  24 Weeks from CCTV Field Work 

60% Design Submittal  8 Weeks from Conceptual Design Review Meeting 

60% Design Review Meeting  2 Weeks from 60% Design Submittal 

Environmental Permitting   40 Weeks from 60% Design Review Meeting 

90% Design Submittal 4 Weeks from Environmental Permitting 

90% Design Review Meeting 2 Weeks from 90% Design Submittal 

Final Design Submittal 4 Weeks from 90% Design Review Meeting 

Final Design Review Meeting 2 Weeks from Final Design Submittal 

Bid Advertisement 1 2 Months from Final Design Submittal 

Bid Opening 4 Weeks from Bid Advertisement 

Equipment Procurement 2 15 Months 

Construction 6 Months once all equipment is procured 

1. 2-month allowance included for board approval 

2. Lead times for electrical equipment are approximately 1 year  

 

 

 

50



8410618  |  Re: Terra Linda Trunk Sewer and John Duckett Pump Station Design – Amendment 01: Structural Sewer Lining, Valve and Actuator Replacement, and 
Crane Replacement 4 

 

Should the District have any questions or concerns, do not hesitate to reach out to Dmitriy Shimberg by phone 
at 415-296-2051 or via email at dmitriy.shimberg@ghd.com.  

Regards, 
 

 
Dmitriy Shimberg, PE 
Project Manager 

+1 415 296-2051 
dmitriy.shimberg@ghd.com 

51



8410618  |  Re: Terra Linda Trunk Sewer and John Duckett Pump Station Design – Amendment 01: Structural Sewer Lining, Valve and Actuator Replacement, and 
Crane Replacement 5 

 

 

Attachment 1  

Fee Estimate 
  

 

52



 

Terra Linda Trunk Sewer and John Duckett Pump Station Design
8410618

Description
Project 
Director QA/QC

Project 
Manager

Project 
Engineer Staff Engineer Lining Lead

Structural 
Lead

Structural 
CAD

Environment
al

CAD 
Oversight

Environment
al Permitting Sr. Biologist Biologist

Botany and 
Wetlands CEQA GIS Admin

Electrical 
Lead

Electrical 
Engineer Total Hours Labor Total Subs Subtronic Subs Markup Total Subs

Mileage and 
Travel Disb. Fee Total Disb.

Estimated 
Project Total

Casey 
Raines 

Matt 
Winkelman 

Dmitriy 
Shimberg

Lawrence 
Downs - TBD 

Kellen Hauser 
- TBD

Pedro 
Alvarez James Pan

Mauricio 
Ortiz

Andrea 
Hilton Jim Bruce

Kristine 
Gaspar Sam Moose

Stephen 
Peterson

Miles 
Hartnett

Kolby 
Lundgren

Christian 
Hernandez

Jesse 
Lopez TBD

Rick 
Guggiana 

Becca 
Keating 

$302 $400 $251 $209 $149 $272.0 $272.0 $226.0 $272 $243 $272 $209 $272 $209 $209 $170 $200 $166 $302 $170 

Task1 Project Coordination 6 6 58 4 0 2 0 0 16 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 111 $27,964 $0 $0 $0 $0 $250 $722 $972 $28,936 
Subtask 1.1 Project Management 4 4 44 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 69 $16,886 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $449 $449 $17,335 

Subtask 1.2 Quality Management and Meetings 2 2 14 4 0 2 0 0 14 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 42 $11,078 $0 $0 $0 $0 $250 $273 $523 $11,601 

Task2 Conceptual Design  2 2 4 24 30 16 16 10 6 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 18 162 $37,464 $0 $11,280 $1,692 $12,972 $0 $1,053 $1,053 $51,489 
Subtask 2.1 Conceptual Design Drawings 2 2 4 24 30 16 16 10 6 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 18 162 $37,464 $0 $11,280 $1,692 $12,972 $0 $1,053 $1,053 $51,489 

Task3 Environmental Technical Studies 0 0 4 0 8 0 0 0 10 0 1 0 24 48 126 0 32 4 0 0 257 $55,146 $9,050 $0 $1,358 $10,408 $2,200 $1,671 $3,871 $69,424 
Subtask 3.1 Aquatic Resources Delineation 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 50 0 12 0 0 0 69 $14,487 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $449 $449 $14,936 

Subtask 3.2 Botanical Surveys and Sensitive Natural Community Techn Memo 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 76 0 12 0 0 0 93 $19,377 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,200 $605 $1,805 $21,182 

Subtask 3.3 Biological Resources Report 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 24 48 0 0 8 0 0 0 85 $19,253 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,000 $553 $1,553 $20,806 

Subtask 3.4 Cultural Resources Investigation 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 10 $2,029 $9,050 $0 $1,358 $10,408 $0 $65 $65 $12,502 

Task4 CEQA Compliance 0 0 19 0 16 0 0 0 48 0 4 124 0 10 0 152 24 0 0 0 397 $79,943 $0 $0 $0 $0 $200 $2,581 $2,781 $82,724 
Subtask 4.1 CEQA Kickoff Meeting and Project Description 0 0 4 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 8 0 0 0 32 $6,166 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $208 $208 $6,374 

Subtask 4.2 Admin Draft ISMND and Review Meeting 0 0 6 0 4 0 0 0 22 0 2 72 0 10 0 84 8 0 0 0 208 $41,648 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,352 $1,352 $43,000 

Subtask 4.3 Screen Check Draft ISMND 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 8 0 0 20 0 0 0 16 4 0 0 0 52 $10,676 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $338 $338 $11,014 

Subtask 4.4 Noticing and Circulation 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 13 $2,495 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $85 $85 $2,580 

Subtask 4.5 Public Review Draft ISMND 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 4 0 0 16 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 31 $6,341 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $202 $202 $6,543 

Subtask 4.6 District Review Draft Final ISMND 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 8 0 0 8 0 0 0 8 4 0 0 0 31 $6,557 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $202 $202 $6,759 

Subtask 4.7 Final ISMND, Public Meetings, NOD 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 2 0 2 8 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 30 $6,060 $0 $0 $0 $0 $200 $195 $395 $6,455 

Task5 60% Design  4 20 18 32 56 6 32 12 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44 40 272 $63,838 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,768 $1,768 $65,606 
Subtask 5.1 60% Design Drawings 4 16 8 20 40 2 24 12 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 32 40 206 $47,948 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,339 $1,339 $49,287 

Subtask 5.2 60% Desgin Specifications 0 4 10 12 16 4 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 66 $15,890 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $429 $429 $16,319 

Task6 Environmental Permitting 0 2 18 0 18 0 0 0 16 0 0 120 0 0 36 0 12 0 0 0 222 $47,356 $0 $0 $0 $0 $200 $1,443 $1,643 $48,999 
Subtask 6.1 Agency Pre-Permitting Coordination 0 2 4 0 2 0 0 0 4 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 24 $5,698 $0 $0 $0 $0 $200 $156 $356 $6,054 

Subtask 6.2 CDFW Lake & Streambed Alteration Agreement 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 2 0 0 36 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 50 $10,468 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $325 $325 $10,793 

Subtask 6.3 US Army Corp of Engineers NWP 58 0 0 4 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 30 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 42 $8,916 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $273 $273 $9,189 

Subtask 6.4 SF Bay RWQCB 401 Water Quality Certification 0 0 4 0 6 0 0 0 4 0 0 36 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 54 $11,310 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $351 $351 $11,661 

Subtask 6.6 Revegetation and Monitoring Plan 0 0 2 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 6 0 0 36 0 0 0 0 0 52 $10,964 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $338 $338 $11,302 

Task7 90% Design 2 13 16 18 58 6 30 12 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 55 48 264 $60,956 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,716 $1,716 $62,672 
Subtask 7.1 90% Design Drawings 2 8 6 8 30 2 24 12 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 32 40 170 $39,158 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,105 $1,105 $40,263 

Subtask 7.2 90% Design Specifications  0 4 8 6 18 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 54 $12,800 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $351 $351 $13,151 

Subtask 7.3 90% Construction Cost Estimate 0 1 2 4 10 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 8 40 $8,998 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $260 $260 $9,258 

Task8 Final Design 2 7 12 9 22 3 19 8 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 10 104 $24,455 0 0 0 $0 $0 $676 $676 $25,131 
Subtask 8.1 Final Design Drawings 2 4 4 4 14 1 16 8 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 8 69 $16,102 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $449 $449 $16,551 

Subtask 8.2 Final Design Specifications  0 2 4 4 6 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 21 $4,954 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $137 $137 $5,091 

Subtask 8.3 Final Construction Cost Estimate 0 1 4 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 14 $3,399 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $91 $91 $3,490 

Task9 Bid Support Services 3 1 8 2 4 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 16 45 $10,280 0 0 0 $0 0 $293 $293 $10,573 
Subtask 9.1 Bid Support Services 2 0 6 2 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 17 $4,429 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $111 $111 $4,540 

Subtask 9.2 Conformed Plans and Specifications 1 1 2 0 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 16 28 $5,851 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $182 $182 $6,033 

Task10 Construction Support Services 2 1 18 24 76 0 0 0 12 8 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 24 197 $39,326 0 0 0 $0 0 $1,281 $1,281 $40,607 
Subtask 10.1 Construction Support Services 1 1 16 24 60 0 0 0 12 4 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 16 166 $33,806 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,079 $1,079 $34,885 

Subtask 10.2 Record Drawings 1 0 2 0 16 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 31 $5,520 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $202 $202 $5,722 

Task11 Community Engagement 2 4 8 0 0 0 0 0 8 8 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 38 10084 0 0 0 $0 250 $247 $497 $10,581 
Subtask 11.1 Community Engagement 2 4 8 0 0 0 0 0 8 8 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 38 $10,084 $0 $0 $0 $0 $250 $247 $497 $10,581 

Task12 Design Contingency 2 2 4 8 32 0 0 0 8 0 4 8 0 0 0 8 0 0 8 24 108 21640 0 0 0 $0 0 $702 $702 $22,342 
Subtask 12.1 Design Contingency 2 2 4 8 32 0 0 0 8 0 4 8 0 0 0 8 0 0 8 24 108 $21,640 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $702 $702 $22,342 

Total Labor Hours 25 58 187 121 320 34 99 42 124 44 13 268 24 58 162 160 68 23 167 180 2177 $478,452 $9,050 $11,280 $3,050 $23,380 $3,100 $14,151 $17,251 $519,082 

x Estimated Project Total $7,550 $23,200 $46,937 $25,289 $47,680 $9,248 $26,928 $9,492 $33,728 $10,692 $3,536 $56,012 $6,528 $12,122 $33,858 $27,200 $13,600 $3,818 $50,434 $30,600 2177 $478,452 $9,050 $11,280 $3,050 $23,380 $3,100 $14,151 $17,251 $519,082 

53



 

 

 Page 1 of 2 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 
To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 
 (415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Mtg. Date: November 7, 2024 

Re: Award of Contract for Rafael Meadows Pump Station Fencing Improvements 

Item Type:   Consent     X  Action        Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes       X    No     (See attached) Not Applicable             . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve the award of contract to Dryco Construction, Inc. for the Rafael Meadows Pump 
Station Fencing Improvements project in the amount of $294,391. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On October 10, 2024, the District opened bids for the Rafael Meadows Pump Station Fencing 
Improvements project and Dryco Construction, Inc. was the apparent low bidder. The project 
provides for the installation of 650 lineal feet of 7’-high “High Security” fencing (Ameristar Impasse 
Type II) along the full perimeter (property lines) of the pump station, including one (1) 16’-wide 
motorized rolling gate and one (1) 10’-wide manual double swing gate. Staff reviewed the bids 
and determined that Dryco is a responsive and responsible bidder. 
 
Included as alternates are Bid Alternate 1 for 440 lineal feet of partial perimeter fencing with 
Ameristar high security fencing and Bid Alternate 2 for 650 lineal feet of full perimeter fencing with 
vinyl-coated chain link fence with anti-intruder barbed wire. Staff evaluated the options and 
considered the Base Bid most cost-effective based on previous fencing projects at the plant and 
given the history of fencing vandalism at the pump station. 
 
The bid results are as follows: 
 

Bidder   Base Bid Bid Alternate 1 Bid Alternate 2 
1. Dryco Const., Inc. (Fremont)  $294,391     $234,392     $149,743 
2. SCC Electric Inc. (Novato)   $495,000     $432,000     $409,350 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The bid price of $294,391 exceeds the current CIP project budget of $150,000 for FY 2024-25. 
The shortfall of $144,391 will be covered by the excess budget for the Reclamation Pump Station 
Improvements project. 

Item Number_____3E___________ 

GM Review   ______CP__________ 

 

54

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 

 

 Page 2 of 2 

 

 
Figure 1. Rafael Meadows Pump Station Approximate Boundary 

 
 

 
Figure 2. Model Impasse II Gauntlet Fence by Ameristar 

55



 

 
 

 

11/7/2024 
 

 General Manager Report 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 4.1 

56



57



58



59



60



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\11072024\FinancialReports\ASR 1st QTR Treasurer's Report Sept 2024.docx Page 1 of 4 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  
(415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 

Meeting Date: November 7, 2024 

Re: Quarterly Treasurer’s & Financial Reports as of September 30, 2024 

Item Type:   Consent   Action  Information  X Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 

 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Receive the Treasurer’s and Financial reports for the quarter ending September 30, 2024. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Board Policy F-20-10, Financial Reporting, and Board Policy F-70-120, Investment Reporting, 
require that quarterly reports be submitted to the Board. It is prudent and beneficial to present 
these reports to the Board at the same time. 
 
TREASURER’S REPORT 
Pursuant to the State of California Government Code Section 56300, the District’s investment 
policy adopted on July 21, 2022, and industry best practices, staff has prepared a quarterly 
treasurer’s report as of September 30, 2024. The attached report includes bank and investment 
accounts managed by the District. 
 

As specified in California Government Code Section 53646(e), if all funds are placed in the State of 
California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF), in accounts insured or guaranteed pursuant to 
Section 14858 of the Financial Code, FDIC-insured accounts and/or in a county investment pool, 
the reporting elements may be replaced by copies of the latest statements from such institutions. 
 
The District maintains two debt reserve funds, equal to one year’s debt service for the State 
Revolving Fund and Bank of Marin loans. The quarterly account statements for the two Bank of 
Marin Certificates of Deposit accounts are included as part of this Treasurer’s Report. 
 
The District diversified from its primary investment account, LAIF, in January 2024. Two additional 
pooled investment accounts, California Cooperative Liquid Assets Security System (California 
CLASS) and California Asset Management Program (CAMP), were established in December 2023. 
Below are the investment summaries for the quarter ending September 30, 2024: 
 

• LAIF interest rate was 4.71%, up from 4.55% in June. Quarterly interest earned from LAIF 
was $22,057.92 which was deposited into our account on October 15. The most recent LAIF 
Remittance Advice statement from the California State Controller’s Office is attached.  

 
 

Item Number_____4.3_________ 

GM Review   ______CP________ 

61

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\11072024\FinancialReports\ASR 1st QTR Treasurer's Report Sept 2024.docx Page 2 of 4 

 

• California CLASS average monthly yield as of September 30 was 5.2597%, down from 
5.4006% at the end of the prior quarter. Interest dividend reinvestment is reported monthly. 
Total interest earned in the quarter was $69,086. Attached are the account summary 
pages from the monthly California CLASS statements this quarter. 
 

• CAMP monthly distribution yield as of September 30 was 5.29%, down from 5.43% at the 
end of the prior quarter. Total dividend and income earned in the quarter was $214,122. 
Attached are the account detail pages from the monthly CAMP statements this quarter. 
Restricted reserves of $15,724,308 are held in CAMP.  

 
Total investments of $21,222,280 are held in the District’s investment accounts and two restricted 
debt service accounts, which reflect a decrease of $35,168 over the previous twelve months. 
 

The District’s investments comply with its investment policy and the District has sufficient funds 
available to meet its obligations for the next six months. 
 
Balance Statement 
As of September 30, 2024, the District holds a total of $26,135,772 in cash and investments, 
reflecting an increase of $673,450 compared to September 30, 2023. The operating account 
balance fluctuates throughout the year based on the District's operational needs, making it 
common for the balance to shift from quarter to quarter or year to year. 
 
The District’s cash balance has been designated for the following specific uses: 
 

• Reserves: $15,724,308 in accordance with the District’s reserve policy. 

• Connection Fees: $1,086,771, available exclusively for capacity-related projects. 

• Debt Service Restricted Reserve Funds: $914,715, as mandated by loan covenants. 

• Private Sewer Lateral Assistance Program: $420,878 accumulated in cash for future 
assistance. 

• Recycled Water Capital Repair and Replacement Fund: $14,585 for future capital 
repairs at the Recycled Water Treatment Facility. 

• Special Assessment Funds: $14,109 for the Marin Lagoon pump station and $3,036 for 
the Captains Cove pump station's operation and maintenance. 

 
The remaining cash balance of $7,957,370 will cover operating and capital expenditures through 
mid-December. The District anticipates receiving approximately $21 million in Sewer Use 
Charge and Property Tax revenue from the Marin County Assessor's Office on December 16, 
2024. 
   
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL REPORT 
In alignment with District policy for fiscal management and public agency accountability, staff are 
required to provide the Board of Directors with regular, transparent financial updates. A quarterly 
financial report ensures that the Board remains well-informed about the District's fiscal health, 
offering an opportunity to review financial performance against the adopted budget. 
 
 

62



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\11072024\FinancialReports\ASR 1st QTR Treasurer's Report Sept 2024.docx Page 3 of 4 

 
The attached Budget Worksheet summarizes revenue and expenditure actuals for the 1st quarter 
of the current fiscal year through September 30, 2024. This report compares actual figures with 
the full fiscal year 2024-25 adopted budget, providing a snapshot of our current financial position. 
 
General Fund revenue and expenditures are reported under Fund Accounts 10-xxx-xxxx, with 
expenses broken down by department to allow management and the Board to review the 
performance of each department independently. This level of detail allows for better financial 
oversight and targeted decision-making. 
 
General Fund (10-xxx-xxxx) Summary: 

• Revenue: xx-300-xxxx 

• Operating Expenses by Department: 

o Administration: xx-400-xxxx 

o Engineering:  xx-420-xxxx 

o Board of Directors: xx-440-xxxx 

o Collection System: xx-460-xxxx 

o Maintenance: xx-480-xxxx 

o Pump Station: xx-500-xxxx 

o Laboratory: xx-560-xxxx 

o Reclamation: xx-580-xxxx 

o Plant: xx-600-xxxx 
 

• Nondepartmental Expenses such as contributions and debt service are reported under 
xx-670-xxxx and xx-699-xxxx, respectively.  All required debt service payments this quarter 
have been paid. 

• Capital Projects (xx-700-xxxx to xx-900-xxxx) are assigned their own account number and 
include expenditures on planning, design, software, collections, pump stations, 
reclamation, treatment plant improvements, and sludge pond management. Monitoring 
these accounts ensures that long-term infrastructure investments are progressing as 
planned. 

 
Restricted Funds are also included in the Budget Worksheet under separate fund accounts for 
Marin Lagoon (20-xxx-xxxx), Captain’s Cove (30-xxx-xxxx), Connection Fee (40-xxx-xxxx), and 
Recycled Water (60-xxx-xxxx). These funds are designated for specific purposes and must be 
tracked and managed in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 
 
SUMMARY 
Regular review of financial reports is essential for public agencies to ensure financial 
accountability, transparency, and sustainable fiscal management. These reports help provide a 
picture of the District’s financial health, allowing both management and the Board to make 
informed decisions. 
 

63



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\11072024\FinancialReports\ASR 1st QTR Treasurer's Report Sept 2024.docx Page 4 of 4 

 

Key reasons for reviewing financial reports include: 

1. Promote Financial Accountability: Financial reports allow the Board and staff to monitor 
expenditures, revenues, and the allocation of resources. This helps to ensure that public 
funds are spent in accordance with approved budgets and legal requirements. 

2. Inform Decision-Making: Timely and accurate financial reports provide critical data that 
guide policy decisions, budgeting adjustments, and long-term planning. This ensures that 
decisions are based on the most current financial information available. 

3. Ensure Compliance with Legal and Regulatory Requirements: Many public funds, such 
as restricted reserves, connection fees, or grant funds, come with specific legal obligations. 
Reviewing financial reports ensures compliance with these requirements and helps avoid 
potential penalties or legal issues. 

4. Facilitate Budgetary Oversight: Ongoing financial reporting helps track actual 
performance against budgeted expectations. This allows the agency to address variances 
early and reallocate funds as necessary, ensuring that the budget remains balanced. 

5. Enhance Transparency and Public Trust: Regularly sharing financial reports with the 
Board and the public reinforces the agency’s commitment to transparency. It builds trust 
with stakeholders by showing that the agency is managing public funds responsibly and is 
proactively communicating its financial status. 

By consistently reviewing financial reports, the District ensures it can meet its operational needs, 
fund key projects, and maintain fiscal stability, all while upholding its commitment to accountability 
and transparency. 
 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
No impact for receiving reports. 
 
 
Attachments: 

A. Treasurer’s Report – Operating and Investment Accounts as of September 30, 2024 
B. Bank of Marin Certificate of Deposit xxx679 Statement 06/30/24 – 09/30/24 
C. Bank of Marin Certificate of Deposit xxx073 Statement 06/30/24 – 09/30/24 
D. Local Agency Investment Fund xx-005 Remittance Advice for quarter ending 9/30/24 
E. California CLASS – Account Statements for July, August, and September 2024 
F. CAMP Account Statements for July, August, and September 2024 
G. Budget Worksheet – Actual to Budget Comparison - Period for 7/24 to 9/24 

 

64



I. Account Summary: Bank and Investment Accounts

2023 2024

Summary of Bank and Investment Accounts

OPERATIONS:
Bank of Marin

Operating Accounts 2,180,444 2,568,178            387,734             
Liquid Savings 228,012 237,351 9,339 

Private Sewer Lateral Rehab 403,228 420,878 17,651 
Surcharge-Marin Lagoon 10,608 14,109 3,500 
Surcharge-Captains Cove 3,682 3,036 (646) 
Connection Fee 810,286 1,086,771            276,485             
Capital Project Recycled Water Reserve Fund 23 14,585 14,562 

Petty cash 95 89 (6) 
Investment Accounts - 

Debt Service Reserve-Recycled Water 606,380 609,392 3,011 
Debt Service Reserve-SRF Loan 303,815 305,324 1,509 
Local Agency Investment Fund 20,347,853 1,860,017            (18,487,835)       
California Cooperative Liquid Assets Security System - 2,471,561 2,471,561          
California Asset Management Program - 15,976,586 15,976,586        

Cash and Investments 24,894,427$        25,567,877$        673,450$           

IBANK ISRF AGREEMENT: 567,760$             567,760$             (0)$  

RESTRICTED 2017 BOND 

US Bank Bond & Cost of Issuance Funds 129$  135$  6$  

TOTAL CASH AND INVESTMENTS 25,462,316$        26,135,772$        673,457$           

II. Account Activity for Bank of Marin Accounts

Bank of Marin operating account activity is for paying regular operating expenses of the District.  Funds are
transferred from the Liquid Savings to the Operating account as needed.

Statement of Compliance:
The investments accounts are invested in compliance with the District's investment policy, adopted at the 
July 21, 2022  Board meeting and California Government Code Section 53600. In addition, the District does 

have the financial ability to meet  its cash flow requirements for the next six months.

Prepared by: Approved by: 

Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager Curtis Paxton, General Manager

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District
Treasurer's Report - Operating and Investment Accounts

September 30, 2024

September Change from 
Previous YearAccounts Summary

11%

6%

81%

2%

2024

9%

5%

84%

2%

2023

Operating

Restricted

Investment

Other / IBank

Q:\ACCOUNTING\QUARTERLY FINANCIALS\2024-25\1st Qtr Sept\1st QTR Treasurers Report Sept 2024 10/27/2024 7:43 PM

Attachment A

65



Account Number: xxxx-xxx679
Statement Period: 06/30/24 - 09/30/24 
Page: 1 of 2

PO Box 2039
Novato, CA 94948-2039

Customer Service Information
Branch: 415-472-2265
Touch Tone Banking: 800-654-5111

Lost or Stolen Card:
24 hours 7 days per week 866-626-6004

Written Inquiries:
496 LAS GALLINAS AVE #4
SAN RAFAEL CA 94903

Visit us Online: www.bankofmarin.com

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
"BANK OF MARIN DEBT RESERVE"
101 LUCAS VALLEY RD SUITE 300
SAN RAFAEL CA 94903-1795

Important Notice of Fee Changes
Effective November 1, 2024, we are updating fees. Please see

the notice at the end of this statement for a summary of changes.

Account Summary for PUBLIC FUNDS JMBO CDxxxx-xxx679

Total Current Balance $609,391.52
Total Interest Year To Date $2,255.65

Transaction Detail

Date Description Deposits Withdrawals Balance
06/30 Beginning Balance $608,633.22
07/31 Interest 758.30 609,391.52
09/30 Ending Balance $609,391.52

Deposit Number 0000-000001
Principal $571,431.58
Current Balance $609,391.52
Total Interest Year To Date $2,255.65
Current Rate 0.494%

Original Deposit Amount $569,178.89
Original Deposit Date 08/01/12
Last Maturity Date 08/01/20
Current Term 60 Months, renewable
Next Maturity Date 08/01/25

00008047 00036511 0001 0002 BOMB1110100224090805 01

00008047 BOMB1110100224090805 01     0000

101010101010101010101010
101011011100100000100011
110010110000110100111100
101000110111010110101101
101111000110010000100000
101111001011010011001111
101100011000100000000100
101100110001000101101111
100011100100001011110110
110010001100101100110101
100010100000101011000010
110000011010110000101011
111010100101001110111010
100001000011111010100101
100100000010111101010000
100101101110111010011101
110001001111010111000110
110010000011110111000001
100000101111100001100100
101000101101100101110011
110000001010110001111000
100100011001110001101101
100001110100000010011010
111111111111111111111111

Attachment B

66



Account Number: xxxx-xxx073
Statement Period: 06/30/24 - 09/30/24 
Page: 1 of 2

PO Box 2039
Novato, CA 94948-2039

Customer Service Information
Branch: 415-472-2265
Touch Tone Banking: 800-654-5111

Lost or Stolen Card:
24 hours 7 days per week 866-626-6004

Written Inquiries:
496 LAS GALLINAS AVE #4
SAN RAFAEL CA 94903

Visit us Online: www.bankofmarin.com

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
101 LUCAS VALLEY RD SUITE 300
SAN RAFAEL CA 94903-1795

Important Notice of Fee Changes
Effective November 1, 2024, we are updating fees. Please see

the notice at the end of this statement for a summary of changes.

Account Summary for PUBLIC FUNDS JMBO CDxxxx-xxx073

Total Current Balance $305,323.86
Total Interest Year To Date $1,130.15

Transaction Detail

Date Description Deposits Withdrawals Balance
06/30 Beginning Balance $304,948.06
07/29 Interest 375.80 305,323.86
09/30 Ending Balance $305,323.86

Deposit Number 0000-000001
Principal $286,304.76
Current Balance $305,323.86
Total Interest Year To Date $1,130.15
Current Rate 0.494%

Original Deposit Amount $286,304.76
Original Deposit Date 07/30/13
Last Maturity Date 07/30/20
Current Term 60 Months, renewable
Next Maturity Date 07/30/25

00008050 00036520 0001 0002 BOMB1110100224090805 01

00008050 BOMB1110100224090805 01     0000

101010101010101010101010
101011011100100000100011
110010110000110100111100
101000110111010110101101
101111000110010000100000
101111001011010011001111
101100011010000000000100
101100110001000101101111
100011100100001011110010
110010001100101101101001
100010100000001011011110
110000010010010001010001
111010100011001101110100
100001001010111100010101
100100000010111000110000
100101110010011111011101
110001001110010001100110
110010111011010011110101
100010100100110100111000
101001011100101110000011
111110101011111000011010
100100000001110110000101
101111110101000010001010
111111111111111111111111

Attachment C

67



MALIA M. COHEN

California State Controller

LOCAL AGENCY INVESTMENT FUND
REMITTANCE ADVICE

Agency Name LAS GALINAS VLY SANITARY DIST 

Account Number xx-xx-005

As of 10/15/2024, your Local Agency Investment Fund account has been directly credited
with the interest earned on your deposits for the quarter ending 09/30/2024.

Earnings Ratio .00012912073474208

Interest Rate 4.71%

Dollar Day Total $ 170,831,774.84

Quarter End Principal Balance $ 1,860,017.13

Quarterly Interest Earned $ 22,057.92

10/17/24, 2:24 PM Untitled Page

https://laif.sco.ca.gov/Result.aspx 1/1

Attachment D

68

Dale McDonald
Underline



LGVSD Prime

Tel: (877) 930-5213 www.californiaclass.com

Account Statement
July 31, 2024

Page 2 of 3

Account Number:8-0001

Account Summary Average Monthly Yield:  5.4207%

Beginning
Balance Contributions Withdrawals

Income
Earned

Income
Earned

YTD
Average Daily

Balance
Month End

Balance
California CLASS 9,247,475.40 0.00 3,845,000.00 34,467.24 281,942.64 7,512,135.63 5,436,942.64

Transaction Activity

Transaction Date Transaction Description Contributions Withdrawals Balance Transaction Number

07/01/2024 Beginning Balance 9,247,475.40

07/18/2024 Withdrawal 3,845,000.00 5478

07/31/2024 Income Dividend Reinvestment 34,467.24

07/31/2024 Ending Balance 5,436,942.64

Attachment E

69



LGVSD Prime

Tel: (877) 930-5213 www.californiaclass.com

Account Number: 

Account Statement
August 31, 2024

Page 2 of 3

Account Summary Average Monthly Yield:  5.4075%

Beginning
Balance Contributions Withdrawals

Income
Earned

Income
Earned

YTD
Average Daily

Balance
Month End

Balance
California CLASS 5,436,942.64 0.00 3,000,000.00 24,016.50 305,959.14 5,244,943.70 2,460,959.14

Transaction Activity

Transaction Date Transaction Description Contributions Withdrawals Balance Transaction Number

08/01/2024 Beginning Balance 5,436,942.64

08/30/2024 Withdrawal 3,000,000.00 6040

08/31/2024 Income Dividend Reinvestment 24,016.50

08/31/2024 Ending Balance 2,460,959.14

70



LGVSD Prime

Tel: (877) 930-5213 www.californiaclass.com

Account Number: 8-0001

Account Statement
September 30, 2024

Page 2 of 3

Account Summary Average Monthly Yield:  5.2597%

Beginning
Balance Contributions Withdrawals

Income
Earned

Income
Earned

YTD
Average Daily

Balance
Month End

Balance
California CLASS 2,460,959.14 0.00 0.00 10,602.17 316,561.31 2,461,312.55 2,471,561.31

Transaction Activity

Transaction Date Transaction Description Contributions Withdrawals Balance Transaction Number

09/01/2024 Beginning Balance 2,460,959.14

09/30/2024 Income Dividend Reinvestment 10,602.17

09/30/2024 Ending Balance 2,471,561.31

71



For the Month Ending July 31, 2024Account Statement 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District - LGVSD CAMP - xxxx-01

Total Settlement Dollar AmountShare or Trade

Shares OwnedDate Transaction Description of TransactionUnit PriceDate

CAMP Pool

 15,762,464.50 Opening Balance

07/31/24 08/01/24 Accrual Income Div Reinvestment - Distributions  1.00  72,543.86  15,835,008.36 

 15,835,008.36 

 15,835,008.36 

 15,835,008.36 

 15,764,804.62 

 72,543.86 

 0.00 

 0.00 

 72,543.86 

 15,762,464.50 

 72,543.86 

 15,835,008.36 

 0.00 

 0.00 

 72,543.86 

 15,762,464.50 

Monthly Distribution Yield

Average Monthly Balance

Closing Balance

Fiscal YTDMonth of

Cash Dividends and Income

Closing Balance

Check Disbursements

Redemptions (Excl. Checks)

Purchases

Opening Balance

Closing Balance

July July-July

 5.43%

Account xxxx-01 Page 2

Attachment F

72



For the Month Ending August 31, 2024Account Statement 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District - LGVSD CAMP - xxxx-01

Total Settlement Dollar AmountShare or Trade

Shares OwnedDate Transaction Description of TransactionUnit PriceDate

CAMP Pool

 15,835,008.36 Opening Balance

08/30/24 09/03/24 Accrual Income Div Reinvestment - Distributions  1.00  72,623.59  15,907,631.95 

 15,907,631.95 

 15,907,631.95 

 15,907,631.95 

 15,839,693.75 

 145,167.45 

 0.00 

 0.00 

 145,167.45 

 15,762,464.50 

 72,623.59 

 15,907,631.95 

 0.00 

 0.00 

 72,623.59 

 15,835,008.36 

Monthly Distribution Yield

Average Monthly Balance

Closing Balance

Fiscal YTDMonth of

Cash Dividends and Income

Closing Balance

Check Disbursements

Redemptions (Excl. Checks)

Purchases

Opening Balance

Closing Balance

August July-August

 5.41%

Account xxxx-01 Page 2

73



For the Month Ending September 30, 2024Account Statement 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District - LGVSD CAMP - xxxx-01

Total Settlement Dollar AmountShare or Trade

Shares OwnedDate Transaction Description of TransactionUnit PriceDate

CAMP Pool

 15,907,631.95 Opening Balance

09/30/24 10/01/24 Accrual Income Div Reinvestment - Distributions  1.00  68,954.09  15,976,586.04 

 15,976,586.04 

 15,976,586.04 

 15,976,586.04 

 15,909,930.42 

 214,121.54 

 0.00 

 0.00 

 214,121.54 

 15,762,464.50 

 68,954.09 

 15,976,586.04 

 0.00 

 0.00 

 68,954.09 

 15,907,631.95 

Monthly Distribution Yield

Average Monthly Balance

Closing Balance

Fiscal YTDMonth of

Cash Dividends and Income

Closing Balance

Check Disbursements

Redemptions (Excl. Checks)

Purchases

Opening Balance

Closing Balance

September July-September

 5.29%

Account xxxx-01 Page 2

74



Page: 1Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

General

Sewer Use Charges

10-310-4110 SSC Special Assessment-Current 175,677.06 19,596,010.00 .90

10-310-4115 Sewer Service Chrg Direct Bill 2,320.00 1,275,000.00 .18

10-310-4120 Sewer Service Charge PY .00 20,000.00 .00

10-310-4130 SSC LISRAP 10% Discount 372.00- 25,000.00- 1.49

.8520,866,010.00177,625.06Total Sewer Use Charges:

Permits/Fees

10-330-4310 Permits and Inspection Fees 15,250.00 53,400.00 28.56

10-330-4313 Application Fees 2,000.00 6,500.00 30.77

28.8059,900.0017,250.00Total Permits/Fees:

Property Taxes

10-340-4405 Property Tax - Current Secured 6,879.09 1,273,290.00 .54

10-340-4410 Property Tax - Current Unsecur .00 21,400.00 .00

10-340-4415 Prior Secured Redemption 248.43 100.00 248.43

10-340-4420 Prior Unsecured .00 1,300.00 .00

10-340-4427 Supp. Assmnts - Prop Tax Curr 956.76 25,490.00 3.75

10-340-4428 Supp. Assmnts - Redemption .00 1,170.00 .00

10-340-4440 ERAF .00 264,280.00 .00

10-340-4441 ERAF Prior Year 63,900.96 216,230.00 29.55

3.991,803,260.0071,985.24Total Property Taxes:

Franchise Fees

10-350-4510 Franchise Revenue 48,705.84 185,440.00 26.27

26.27185,440.0048,705.84Total Franchise Fees:

Intergovernmental

10-360-4610 Federal and State Grants .00 5,000.00 .00

10-360-4620 HOPTR .00 2,360.00 .00

.007,360.00.00Total Intergovernmental:

Investment Income

10-370-4710 Bank Interest - Operations 33,187.33 89,730.00 36.99

10-370-4711 Interest - LAIF .00 80,000.00 .00

10-370-4713 Interest on Bond Funds .00 5.00 .00

10-370-4715 Interest on Reserves CD x6073 375.80 1,540.00 24.40

10-370-4716 Interest - CAMP 214,121.54 388,190.00 55.16

10-370-4717 Interest - CLASS 69,085.91 233,020.00 29.65

39.97792,485.00316,770.58Total Investment Income:

Other Nonoperating

10-380-4881 PSL Prior Year .00 1,000.00 .00

10-380-4882 PSL Levy Principal 1,968.58 82,000.00 2.40

10-380-4885 Miscellaneous Income 3,123.52 40,120.00 7.79

10-380-4887 PSL Direct Pay Off 1,134.22 10,000.00 11.34

Interest to be deposited 10/15/24

Attachment G

75



Page: 2Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

10-380-4888 PSL Investment Interest .00 7,000.00 .00

10-380-4890 Donations (received) .00 500.00 .00

10-380-4899 Passthru Reimbursmnt (Revenue) .00 25,000.00 .00

3.76165,620.006,226.32Total Other Nonoperating:

Transfers In

10-390-4910 Transfer - I Bank Loan .00 567,760.00 .00

.00567,760.00.00Total Transfers In:

Administration

10-400-5000 Regular Staff Salaries 251,173.53 1,107,800.00 22.67

10-400-5010 Overtime 1,958.80 10,100.00 19.39

10-400-5020 Doubletime 204.39 900.00 22.71

10-400-5060 Auto Allowance 1,222.60 5,800.00 21.08

10-400-5075 Certification Stipends 2,492.28 16,200.00 15.38

10-400-5077 Longevity Pay 1,952.59 8,100.00 24.11

10-400-5090 Vacation/Sick Accrual .00 17,600.00 .00

10-400-5110 Health Insurance-Actives 42,383.42 136,800.00 30.98

10-400-5111 Health Insurance-Retirees 8,033.17 62,700.00 12.81

10-400-5112 Health Insurance-Admin Fee .00 1,600.00 .00

10-400-5117 Dental Insurance 2,265.79 22,800.00 9.94

10-400-5119 Vision Services 205.35 5,100.00 4.03

10-400-5120 PERS-Normal Contributions 9,981.70 83,300.00 11.98

10-400-5129 GASB Pension Expense 700.00 .00 .00

10-400-5130 Social Security Expense 14,929.40 64,500.00 23.15

10-400-5140 Workers Comp Insurance 63,869.00 111,400.00 57.33

10-400-5150 Group Life Insurance 2,255.13 10,900.00 20.69

10-400-5160 Long Term Disability 2,346.34 13,400.00 17.51

10-400-5170 Wellness Reimbursement Program .00 2,500.00 .00

10-400-5221 Office Supplies & Expense 1,424.61 32,200.00 4.42

10-400-5223 Meeting Supplies & Expense 773.43 3,700.00 20.90

10-400-5224 Damage Claims 168.40 .00 .00

10-400-5225 COVID-19 Expenses .00 1,000.00 .00

10-400-5229 Employee Recognition 1,187.67 2,500.00 47.51

10-400-5233 Vehicle Gas Admin .00 500.00 .00

10-400-5243 Misc Safety Exp - Lgvsd only 211.24 3,200.00 6.60

10-400-5303 Payroll Processing Fees 6,551.10 25,900.00 25.29

10-400-5310 Vehicle Parts & Repairs 40.00 1,700.00 2.35

10-400-5315 Equipment Maintenance .00 300.00 .00

10-400-5317 Equipment Repair .00 2,000.00 .00

10-400-5319 Capital Repair / Replacement .00 1,000.00 .00

10-400-5331 Personnel & HR Services 12,251.35 103,900.00 11.79

10-400-5333 Janitorial 5,594.24 24,400.00 22.93

10-400-5335 Labor Relations .00 17,600.00 .00

10-400-5337 General 11,250.88 15,900.00 70.76

10-400-5339 Other Outside Services 463.50 900.00 51.50

10-400-5342 Other Consultants 18,290.98 144,300.00 12.68

10-400-5347 Public Education .00 42,000.00 .00

10-400-5351 Legal 22,722.18 148,400.00 15.31

10-400-5352 Legal MPFA .00 800.00 .00

10-400-5353 Audit .00 22,000.00 .00

Initial deposit paid for FY in July

Incidental - no additional charges

LAFCO Annual Fee in July

76



Page: 3Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

10-400-5355 Financial Services 2,750.00 95,400.00 2.88

10-400-5361 Consulting IT Services 1,667.50 32,600.00 5.12

10-400-5362 Incidental Software 6,967.31 22,700.00 30.69

10-400-5363 Multi-year SaaS Software Subsc .00 100.00 .00

10-400-5411 Insurance - Gen Liab Property 197,936.67 373,800.00 52.95

10-400-5421 Internet Services 50.95 7,100.00 .72

10-400-5423 Telephone and Cell Services 1,752.67 6,400.00 27.39

10-400-5431 Bank Charges 1,850.00- 1,900.00 97.37-

10-400-5433 Publications & Legal Ads 1,542.50 2,000.00 77.13

10-400-5439 Donations to non-profits 10,000.00 10,000.00 100.00

10-400-5451 Rents & Leases - Office & Equi 32,696.63 136,500.00 23.95

10-400-5453 Taxes, Other .00 500.00 .00

10-400-5455 Permits and Fees 630.50 800.00 78.81

10-400-5457 User Chg / Collection Fee Exp. .00 800.00 .00

10-400-5461 Memberships 10,489.00 44,900.00 23.36

10-400-5465 Conferences 3,005.76 20,700.00 14.52

10-400-5467 Mileage & Travel 349.96 6,000.00 5.83

10-400-5469 Employee Education & Training 1,545.00 15,700.00 9.84

10-400-5496 Fidelity Bond 1,216.00 1,200.00 101.33

10-400-9999 Miscellaneous expense 178.60 800.00 22.33

24.803,055,600.00757,832.12Total Administration:

Engineering

10-420-5000 Regular Staff Salaries 131,838.02 609,900.00 21.62

10-420-5060 Auto Allowance 1,222.60 5,400.00 22.64

10-420-5075 Certification Stipends 2,492.28 16,200.00 15.38

10-420-5077 Longevity Pay 7,493.47 30,500.00 24.57

10-420-5090 Vacation/Sick Accrual .00 20,000.00 .00

10-420-5110 Health Insurance-Actives 15,321.15 73,700.00 20.79

10-420-5117 Dental Insurance 972.34 10,000.00 9.72

10-420-5119 Vision Services 26.76 700.00 3.82

10-420-5120 PERS-Normal Contributions 6,816.21 52,000.00 13.11

10-420-5130 Social Security Expense 7,981.27 34,900.00 22.87

10-420-5150 Group Life Insurance 458.00 1,600.00 28.63

10-420-5160 Long Term Disability 1,476.64 5,700.00 25.91

10-420-5170 Wellness Reimbursement Program 1,000.00 1,500.00 66.67

10-420-5221 Office Supplies & Expense 1,332.37 1,700.00 78.37

10-420-5243 Misc Safety Exp - Lgvsd only .00 900.00 .00

10-420-5301 Contract Personnel .00 40,000.00 .00

10-420-5342 Other Consultants 11,753.75 140,000.00 8.40

10-420-5344 Passthru (Receivable Expense) .00 14,200.00 .00

10-420-5361 Consulting IT Services 600.00 500.00 120.00

10-420-5362 Incidental Software 239.76 3,100.00 7.73

10-420-5415 General Small Projects 4,529.58 25,200.00 17.97

10-420-5417 Feasibility Studies .00 64,000.00 .00

10-420-5423 Telephone and Cell Services 494.28 2,200.00 22.47

10-420-5433 Publications & Legal Ads 4,139.20 8,100.00 51.10

10-420-5455 Permits and Fees .00 400.00 .00

10-420-5461 Memberships .00 1,700.00 .00

10-420-5469 Employee Education & Training .00 8,000.00 .00

77



Page: 4Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

17.081,172,100.00200,187.68Total Engineering:

Board of Directors

10-440-5050 Director's Compensation 16,521.66 77,600.00 21.29

10-440-5115 Directors Health Benefits 2,175.00 10,900.00 19.95

10-440-5130 Social Security Expense 1,256.55 4,700.00 26.74

10-440-5221 Office Supplies & Expense 147.40 8,300.00 1.78

10-440-5223 Meeting Supplies & Expense 207.81 8,100.00 2.57

10-440-5331 Personnel & HR Services .00 10,000.00 .00

10-440-5342 Other Consultants .00 5,000.00 .00

10-440-5359 Election Expenses .00 25,000.00 .00

10-440-5423 Telephone and Cell Services 76.02 400.00 19.01

10-440-5461 Memberships .00 1,000.00 .00

10-440-5465 Conferences .00 36,700.00 .00

10-440-5467 Mileage & Travel 7,326.27 1,000.00 732.63

10-440-5469 Employee Education & Training .00 2,500.00 .00

10-440-9999 Miscellaneous expense .00 7,500.00 .00

13.95198,700.0027,710.71Total Board of Directors:

Collection System

10-460-5000 Regular Staff Salaries 210,836.55 918,100.00 22.96

10-460-5010 Overtime 3,780.56 48,200.00 7.84

10-460-5020 Doubletime 2,367.15 8,600.00 27.53

10-460-5030 Stand By 13,468.38 54,700.00 24.62

10-460-5073 Emergency Response Stipend 5,538.36 27,900.00 19.85

10-460-5075 Certification Stipends 9,969.12 32,400.00 30.77

10-460-5077 Longevity Pay 10,730.78 45,400.00 23.64

10-460-5090 Vacation/Sick Accrual .00 15,000.00 .00

10-460-5110 Health Insurance-Actives 38,893.05 148,200.00 26.24

10-460-5111 Health Insurance-Retirees 503.37 3,700.00 13.60

10-460-5117 Dental Insurance 5,806.79 7,800.00 74.45

10-460-5119 Vision Services 245.49 1,600.00 15.34

10-460-5120 PERS-Normal Contributions 22,631.89 98,300.00 23.02

10-460-5130 Social Security Expense 18,919.21 87,000.00 21.75

10-460-5150 Group Life Insurance 638.00 3,400.00 18.76

10-460-5160 Long Term Disability 2,751.08 8,000.00 34.39

10-460-5170 Wellness Reimbursement Program .00 3,500.00 .00

10-460-5211 General Operating Supplies .00 6,000.00 .00

10-460-5221 Office Supplies & Expense .00 5,000.00 .00

10-460-5222 Small Tools 243.55 3,400.00 7.16

10-460-5231 Diesel Collections 5,644.21 9,700.00 58.19

10-460-5233 Vehicle Gas Collections 3,869.88 9,600.00 40.31

10-460-5234 Vehicle Natural Gas .00 900.00 .00

10-460-5235 Oil (vehicle and drum product) .00 100.00 .00

10-460-5241 Safety Contractor Services 9,456.00 57,000.00 16.59

10-460-5243 Misc Safety Exp - Lgvsd only 641.24 16,400.00 3.91

10-460-5310 Vehicle Parts & Repairs 17,577.53 25,600.00 68.66

10-460-5311 Building Maintenance .00 4,700.00 .00

10-460-5312 Grounds Maintenance 771.11 2,400.00 32.13

10-460-5313 Power Generation Maint.&  Rep 450.00 .00 .00

10-460-5315 Equipment Maintenance 1,220.31 37,000.00 3.30

Generator rentals

78



Page: 5Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

10-460-5317 Equipment Repair 3,981.90 11,700.00 34.03

10-460-5319 Capital Repair / Replacement .00 1,000.00 .00

10-460-5334 Uniform Maintenance 4,075.32 12,200.00 33.40

10-460-5339 Other Outside Services .00 23,200.00 .00

10-460-5361 Consulting IT Services 75.00 6,600.00 1.14

10-460-5362 Incidental Software 192.00 11,400.00 1.68

10-460-5363 Subscription Software SaaS 11,500.95 39,700.00 28.97

10-460-5423 Telephone and Cell Services 1,402.04 6,100.00 22.98

10-460-5441 Lateral Rehab Assistance Prog .00 187,800.00 .00

10-460-5455 Permits and Fees 989.33 4,400.00 22.48

10-460-5461 Memberships 1,639.00 6,100.00 26.87

10-460-5469 Employee Education & Training 925.00 15,600.00 5.93

20.432,015,400.00411,734.15Total Collection System:

Maintenance

10-480-5000 Regular Staff Salaries 108,831.37 641,000.00 16.98

10-480-5010 Overtime 75.28 8,000.00 .94

10-480-5020 Doubletime 750.38 400.00 187.60

10-480-5030 Stand By .00 32,000.00 .00

10-480-5073 Emergency Response Stipend .00 3,900.00 .00

10-480-5075 Certification Stipends 6,853.77 32,400.00 21.15

10-480-5077 Longevity Pay 1,843.95 3,600.00 51.22

10-480-5090 Vacation/Sick Accrual .00 12,000.00 .00

10-480-5110 Health Insurance-Actives 9,221.88 84,600.00 10.90

10-480-5117 Dental Insurance 2.00 4,000.00 .05

10-480-5119 Vision Services 123.52 700.00 17.65

10-480-5120 PERS-Normal Contributions 575.24 26,100.00 2.20

10-480-5130 Social Security Expense 9,066.26 60,800.00 14.91

10-480-5150 Group Life Insurance 165.03 2,500.00 6.60

10-480-5160 Long Term Disability 892.71 6,000.00 14.88

10-480-5170 Wellness Reimbursement Program 865.10 2,500.00 34.60

10-480-5211 General Operating Supplies .00 600.00 .00

10-480-5221 Office Supplies & Expense .00 1,000.00 .00

10-480-5222 Small Tools 4,436.43 12,000.00 36.97

10-480-5232 Propane .00 400.00 .00

10-480-5235 Oil (vehicle and drum product) .00 500.00 .00

10-480-5243 Misc Safety Exp - Lgvsd only .00 12,800.00 .00

10-480-5310 Vehicle Parts & Repairs .00 18,400.00 .00

10-480-5311 Building Maintenance 1,256.48 12,200.00 10.30

10-480-5312 Grounds Maintenance 1,862.21 12,700.00 14.66

10-480-5313 Power Generation Maint.&  Rep .00 1,300.00 .00

10-480-5315 Equipment Maintenance 14,677.58 33,500.00 43.81

10-480-5317 Equipment Repair 1,768.57 22,700.00 7.79

10-480-5319 Capital Repair / Replacement .00 4,400.00 .00

10-480-5331 Personnel & HR Services 335.00 .00 .00

10-480-5339 Other Outside Services 1,740.77 54,500.00 3.19

10-480-5361 Consulting IT Services 3,055.00 .00 .00

10-480-5362 Incidental Software .00 2,500.00 .00

10-480-5423 Telephone and Cell Services 521.94 2,700.00 19.33

10-480-5461 Memberships .00 900.00 .00

10-480-5469 Employee Education & Training .00 4,600.00 .00

Two vacant positions to be filled

Recruitment expense

2nd maintenance PC setup

79



Page: 6Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

15.111,118,200.00168,920.47Total Maintenance:

Pump Stations

10-500-5000 Regular Staff Salaries 4,231.16 .00 .00

10-500-5243 Misc Safety Exp - Lgvsd only .00 1,800.00 .00

10-500-5312 Grounds Maintenance 374.56 4,600.00 8.14

10-500-5315 Equipment Maintenance 6,514.27 100.00 6,514.27

10-500-5317 Equipment Repair 1,691.40 7,200.00 23.49

10-500-5319 Capital Repair / Replacement 1,412.70 46,700.00 3.03

10-500-5342 Other Consultants .00 10,000.00 .00

10-500-5345 SCADA Engineering Support .00 36,500.00 .00

10-500-5421 Internet Services 269.65 2,200.00 12.26

10-500-5423 Telephone and Cell Services 2,117.69 10,300.00 20.56

10-500-5425 Utility Power 30,342.38 153,100.00 19.82

10-500-5427 Water 6,239.91 5,300.00 117.73

10-500-5455 Permits and Fees .00 2,700.00 .00

18.96280,500.0053,193.72Total Pump Stations:

Laboratory

10-560-5000 Regular Staff Salaries 57,963.63 296,700.00 19.54

10-560-5010 Overtime .00 6,300.00 .00

10-560-5020 Doubletime .00 3,600.00 .00

10-560-5030 Stand By 1,016.42 8,600.00 11.82

10-560-5073 Emergency Response Stipend 830.76 3,800.00 21.86

10-560-5075 Certification Stipends 1,246.14 5,800.00 21.49

10-560-5077 Longevity Pay 2,032.78 9,000.00 22.59

10-560-5090 Vacation/Sick Accrual .00 8,000.00 .00

10-560-5110 Health Insurance-Actives 7,007.04 32,900.00 21.30

10-560-5117 Dental Insurance 326.69 1,300.00 25.13

10-560-5119 Vision Services 113.52 300.00 37.84

10-560-5120 PERS-Normal Contributions 7,335.21 14,400.00 50.94

10-560-5130 Social Security Expense 5,183.85 18,700.00 27.72

10-560-5150 Group Life Insurance 135.00 800.00 16.88

10-560-5160 Long Term Disability 859.07 2,300.00 37.35

10-560-5170 Wellness Reimbursement Program .00 500.00 .00

10-560-5211 General Operating Supplies .00 4,800.00 .00

10-560-5221 Office Supplies & Expense 971.74 7,100.00 13.69

10-560-5243 Misc Safety Exp - Lgvsd only .00 1,100.00 .00

10-560-5284 Laboratory Supplies 3,067.62 32,600.00 9.41

10-560-5310 Vehicle Parts & Repairs 188.20 1,100.00 17.11

10-560-5315 Equipment Maintenance 868.65 4,300.00 20.20

10-560-5317 Equipment Repair .00 2,800.00 .00

10-560-5319 Capital Repair / Replacement .00 4,100.00 .00

10-560-5327 Pollution Prevention Contract 4,148.77 17,300.00 23.98

10-560-5329 Lab Contract Services 21,837.14 68,500.00 31.88

10-560-5339 Other Outside Services .00 3,700.00 .00

10-560-5342 Other Consultants .00 5,200.00 .00

10-560-5361 Consulting IT Services 1,400.43 .00 .00

10-560-5362 Incidental Software .00 500.00 .00

10-560-5423 Telephone and Cell Services 179.28 1,100.00 16.30

10-560-5455 Permits and Fees .00 7,500.00 .00

Under-budgeted for 2 employees

Lab computer technical support

80



Page: 7Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

10-560-5461 Memberships .00 900.00 .00

10-560-5465 Conferences .00 4,800.00 .00

10-560-5467 Mileage & Travel .00 100.00 .00

10-560-5469 Employee Education & Training 50.00 6,600.00 .76

19.89587,100.00116,761.94Total Laboratory:

Reclamation

10-580-5312 Grounds and Pond Maintenance 967.48 97,400.00 .99

10-580-5315 Equipment Maintenance .00 1,700.00 .00

10-580-5317 Equipment Repair .00 1,200.00 .00

10-580-5323 Pasture Disk 20,916.50 126,300.00 16.56

10-580-5325 Sludge Inject & Land Applicati 8,044.00 380,000.00 2.12

10-580-5326 Marsh Pond Vegetation Removal .00 60,000.00 .00

10-580-5339 Other Outside Services .00 16,800.00 .00

10-580-5342 Other Consultants 2,196.00 17,400.00 12.62

10-580-5417 Feasibility Studies .00 10,000.00 .00

10-580-5425 Utility Power 20,510.85 47,800.00 42.91

10-580-5455 Permits and Fees .00 500.00 .00

6.93759,100.0052,634.83Total Reclamation:

Plant

10-600-5000 Regular Staff Salaries 272,095.80 1,147,400.00 23.71

10-600-5010 Overtime 12,066.74 84,800.00 14.23

10-600-5020 Doubletime 7,132.57 32,200.00 22.15

10-600-5030 Stand By 14,860.34 58,000.00 25.62

10-600-5060 Auto Allowance 1,222.60 5,300.00 23.07

10-600-5073 Emergency Response Stipend 7,119.12 28,700.00 24.81

10-600-5075 Certification Stipends 13,707.54 68,600.00 19.98

10-600-5077 Longevity Pay 8,761.38 34,200.00 25.62

10-600-5090 Vacation/Sick Accrual .00 18,000.00 .00

10-600-5110 Health Insurance-Actives 49,824.93 236,500.00 21.07

10-600-5111 Health Insurance-Retirees 16,571.07 48,800.00 33.96

10-600-5117 Dental Insurance 1,807.29 11,300.00 15.99

10-600-5119 Vision Services 210.42 700.00 30.06

10-600-5120 PERS-Normal Contributions 29,412.68 144,700.00 20.33

10-600-5130 Social Security Expense 23,322.74 103,200.00 22.60

10-600-5150 Group Life Insurance 917.50 5,000.00 18.35

10-600-5160 Long Term Disability 3,748.06 14,900.00 25.15

10-600-5170 Wellness Reimbursement Program 1,491.61 4,000.00 37.29

10-600-5211 General Operating Supplies 8,241.79 3,400.00 242.41

10-600-5221 Office Supplies & Expense 145.00 4,800.00 3.02

10-600-5222 Small Tools 347.29 6,100.00 5.69

10-600-5223 Meeting Supplies & Expense .00 600.00 .00

10-600-5231 Diesel Plant 1,072.75 9,700.00 11.06

10-600-5232 Propane .00 4,000.00 .00

10-600-5233 Vehicle Gas Plant 1,296.99 8,400.00 15.44

10-600-5241 Safety Contractor Services .00 900.00 .00

10-600-5243 Misc Safety Exp - Lgvsd only 211.23 5,200.00 4.06

10-600-5281 Hypochlorite 168,621.00 347,300.00 48.55

10-600-5282 Bisulfite .00 211,800.00 .00

10-600-5283 Miscellaneous Chemicals 20,871.85 74,700.00 27.94

Chlorine Analyzer Standpipe Kit

81



Page: 8Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

10-600-5284 Laboratory Supplies .00 1,900.00 .00

10-600-5301 Contract Personnel .00 60,000.00 .00

10-600-5310 Vehicle Parts & Repairs 2,411.24 1,900.00 126.91

10-600-5311 Building Maintenance 3,425.32 13,900.00 24.64

10-600-5312 Grounds Maintenance 15,736.71 23,500.00 66.96

10-600-5313 Power Generation Maint.&  Rep .00 14,900.00 .00

10-600-5315 Equipment Maintenance 12,189.22 54,300.00 22.45

10-600-5317 Equipment Repair 6,714.21 14,200.00 47.28

10-600-5319 Capital Repair / Replacement 9,164.00 73,400.00 12.49

10-600-5334 Uniform Maintenance 4,075.35 11,700.00 34.83

10-600-5337 General 1,988.46 8,300.00 23.96

10-600-5339 Other Outside Services 3,814.98 17,500.00 21.80

10-600-5341 Environmental 5,564.10 145,300.00 3.83

10-600-5342 Other Consultants 535.50 15,700.00 3.41

10-600-5345 SCADA Engineering Support .00 36,500.00 .00

10-600-5361 Consulting IT Services 1,087.50 15,600.00 6.97

10-600-5362 Incidental Software .00 2,000.00 .00

10-600-5423 Telephone and Cell Services 1,753.58 8,400.00 20.88

10-600-5425 Utility Power 147,890.80 641,700.00 23.05

10-600-5427 Water .00 27,400.00 .00

10-600-5433 Publications & Legal Ads .00 3,400.00 .00

10-600-5455 Permits and Fees 26,326.00 69,800.00 37.72

10-600-5461 Memberships 6,933.00 16,600.00 41.77

10-600-5465 Conferences .00 12,000.00 .00

10-600-5467 Mileage & Travel 420.33 1,300.00 32.33

10-600-5469 Employee Education & Training 1,195.00 13,200.00 9.05

22.754,027,600.00916,305.59Total Plant:

Nondepartmental Contributions

10-670-5113 Health Insurance-OPEB Pre-fund 34,890.00 192,200.00 18.15

10-670-5120 PERS-Normal Contributions UAL 372,889.00 306,600.00 121.62

81.75498,800.00407,779.00Total Nondepartmental Contributions:

Nondepartmental Debt Service

10-699-5511 2004 COP/Refunding  Principal .00 690,000.00 .00

10-699-5512 IBank Principal 381,557.04 381,557.00 100.00

10-699-5513 State Revolving Fund Loan Prin .00 230,669.00 .00

10-699-5514 2011Bank of Marin Loan Princip 27,871.85 257,318.00 10.83

10-699-5516 2017 Revenue Bonds Principal .00 1,205,000.00 .00

10-699-5521 2004 COP/Refunding MF Interest .00 35,105.00 .00

10-699-5522 IBank Loan Interest 153,788.71 301,854.00 50.95

10-699-5523 State Revolving Fund Loan Inte .00 54,795.00 .00

10-699-5524 2011Bank of Marin Loan Interes 55,298.50 75,363.00 73.38

10-699-5526 2017 Revenue Bonds Interest 622,200.00 1,244,400.00 50.00

10-699-5552 Loan Annual Fees - IBank 30,757.74 30,758.00 100.00

28.214,506,819.001,271,473.84Total Nondepartmental Debt Service:

Integrated Wastewater MP

10-710-5601 Integrated Wastewater MP .00 350,000.00 .00

Includes fencing repairs

82



Page: 9Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

.00350,000.00.00Total Integrated Wastewater MP:

Lab Software LIMS for TNI

10-716-5601 Lab Software LIMS for TNI 4,350.00 50,400.00 8.63

8.6350,400.004,350.00Total Lab Software LIMS for TNI:

Alternative Funding Pursuit

10-744-5601 Corporation Yard Design .00 500,000.00 .00

.00500,000.00.00Total Alternative Funding Pursuit:

On-Call Engineering

10-745-5601 On-Call Engineering 8,611.12 206,000.00 4.18

4.18206,000.008,611.12Total On-Call Engineering:

Digester Room MCC#1 Upgrade

10-747-5601 Digester Room MCC#2 Upgrade 64,870.00 1,300,000.00 4.99

4.991,300,000.0064,870.00Total Digester Room MCC#1 Upgrade:

Sea Level Rise Mitigation Prog

10-748-5601 Sea Level Rise Mitigation Prog .00 60,000.00 .00

.0060,000.00.00Total Sea Level Rise Mitigation Prog:

Annual Sewer Rehab

10-752-5601 Annual Sewer Rehab 444,261.99 3,136,823.00 14.16

14.163,136,823.00444,261.99Total Annual Sewer Rehab:

Trunk Sewer Capacity Analysis

10-754-5601 Trunk Sewer Capacity Analysis 18,805.79 450,000.00 4.18

4.18450,000.0018,805.79Total Trunk Sewer Capacity Analysis:

Collection System Vehicles

10-756-5601 Collection System Vehicles .00 673,743.00 .00

.00673,743.00.00Total Collection System Vehicles:

Equipment Collection System

10-757-5601 Equipment .00 10,300.00 .00

.0010,300.00.00Total Equipment Collection System:

Hydraulic Modeling

10-759-5601 Hydraulic Modeling .00 77,250.00 .00

83



Page: 10Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

.0077,250.00.00Total Hydraulic Modeling:

On-Call Construction

10-762-5601 On-Call Construction .00 257,500.00 .00

.00257,500.00.00Total On-Call Construction:

On-Call Inspections CapProject

10-763-5601 On-Call Inspection CapProj 20,685.00 61,800.00 33.47

33.4761,800.0020,685.00Total On-Call Inspections CapProject:

Lab Board Edu Building Design

10-764-5601 Lab Board Edu Building Design 85,946.85 1,791,000.00 4.80

4.801,791,000.0085,946.85Total Lab Board Edu Building Design:

Annual Sewer I&I Reduction

10-765-5601 Annual Sewer I&I Reduction .00 1,000,000.00 .00

.001,000,000.00.00Total Annual Sewer I&I Reduction:

Treatment Plant Upg Ph2 Design

10-766-5601 TP Upg Phase 2 Design Pri Clar .00 400,000.00 .00

.00400,000.00.00Total Treatment Plant Upg Ph2 Design:

Manhold Frame and Cover Adjust

10-767-5601 Manhole Frame and Cover Adjust .00 50,000.00 .00

.0050,000.00.00Total Manhold Frame and Cover Adjust:

Terra Linda Hwy101 Sewer Linin

10-768-5601 Terra Linda Hwy101 Sewer Linin .00 500,000.00 .00

.00500,000.00.00Total Terra Linda Hwy101 Sewer Linin:

Lab Equipment

10-769-5601 Lab Equipment .00 10,000.00 .00

.0010,000.00.00Total Lab Equipment:

Misc UPPCA Projects

10-799-5601 Misc UPPCA Projects .00 546.00 .00

.00546.00.00Total Misc UPPCA Projects:

SCADA Pump Stations

10-801-5601 SCADA Pump Stations .00 530,000.00 .00

84



Page: 11Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

.00530,000.00.00Total SCADA Pump Stations:

Smith Ranch PS Electrical Upgr

10-804-5601 Smith Ranch PS Electrical Upgr .00 1,195,000.00 .00

.001,195,000.00.00Total Smith Ranch PS Electrical Upgr:

Standby/Towable Generator Min

10-805-5601 Standby Generators Minor PS 43,989.23 372,400.00 11.81

11.81372,400.0043,989.23Total Standby/Towable Generator Min:

Pump Station Site Lighting Saf

10-806-5601 Pump Station Site Lighting Saf .00 206,877.00 .00

.00206,877.00.00Total Pump Station Site Lighting Saf:

Electrical VFD and SCADA at PS

10-809-5601 Electrical System VFD .00 500,000.00 .00

.00500,000.00.00Total Electrical VFD and SCADA at PS:

Venetia Harbor PS

10-810-5601 Venetia Harbor Pump Station 108.00 .00 .00

.00.00108.00Total Venetia Harbor PS:

Miller Creek Watershed Program

10-812-5601 Creek & Watershed  Programs 3,389.00 .00 .00

.00.003,389.00Total Miller Creek Watershed Program:

Biosolids System Program

10-813-5601 Biosolids System Program 87,052.08 65,952.00 131.99

131.9965,952.0087,052.08Total Biosolids System Program:

Reclamation Pump Station Impr

10-815-5601 Reclamation Pump Station Impro .00 180,640.00 .00

.00180,640.00.00Total Reclamation Pump Station Impr:

Digester Improvement

10-818-5601 Digester Improvement 23,536.80 .00 .00

.00.0023,536.80Total Digester Improvement:

Rafael Meadows Pump Station

10-819-5601 Rafael  Meadows Pump Station .00 150,000.00 .00

Incidental FY 23-24 compliance charges

Program continued into FY 2024-25

CATS4U work in FY23-24 paid in Sept

85



Page: 12Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

.00150,000.00.00Total Rafael Meadows Pump Station:

Annual Site Improvements PS

10-821-5601 Annual Site Improvements .00 60,000.00 .00

.0060,000.00.00Total Annual Site Improvements PS:

Automatic Transfer Switches PS

10-825-5601 Automatic Transfer Switches PS .00 124,297.00 .00

.00124,297.00.00Total Automatic Transfer Switches PS:

Hawthorne Waterproofing Drywal

10-826-5601 Hawthorne Waterproofing Drywal .00 60,000.00 .00

.0060,000.00.00Total Hawthorne Waterproofing Drywal:

Solar PPA Implementation

10-830-5601 Solar Power Prchse Agremnt Imp 14,473.00 200,000.00 7.24

7.24200,000.0014,473.00Total Solar PPA Implementation:

Secondary Plant Upgrade

10-902-5601 Secondary Plant Upgrade 224,570.16- 20,000.00 1,122.85-

1,122.8520,000.00224,570.16Total Secondary Plant Upgrade:

Emergency Bypass Pumping Analy

10-903-5601 Emergency Bypass Pumping Analy 6,618.25 36,050.00 18.36

18.3636,050.006,618.25Total Emergency Bypass Pumping Analy:

Asset CMMS Onboarding

10-904-5601 Asset CMMS Onboarding 5,200.00 840,000.00 .62

.62840,000.005,200.00Total Asset CMMS Onboarding:

Primary Clarifier Sludge Pump

10-906-5601 Primary Clarifier Sludge Pump 9,360.00 150,000.00 6.24

6.24150,000.009,360.00Total Primary Clarifier Sludge Pump:

Grit Chambers Coating & Auger

10-907-5601 Grit Chambers Coating & Auger 8,957.38 .00 .00

.00.008,957.38Total Grit Chambers Coating & Auger:

Annual Site Improvements Plant

10-915-5601 Annual Site Improvements Plant .00 150,000.00 .00

CCO accrual adjustments at 6/30/24
actual expense $9,062.75, unilateral
change order pending from capital
reserves

CATS4U charges in July

86



Page: 13Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

.00150,000.00.00Total Annual Site Improvements Plant:

Standard Specs and Drawing Upd

10-918-5601 Standard Specs & Drawings Upda 237.50 10,000.00 2.38

2.3810,000.00237.50Total Standard Specs and Drawing Upd:

Center Pivot Replacements

10-924-5601 Center Pivot Replacements .00 500,000.00 .00

.00500,000.00.00Total Center Pivot Replacements:

Sludge Lagoon Liner

10-925-5601 Sludge Lagoon Liner 5,040.00 77,250.00 6.52

6.5277,250.005,040.00Total Sludge Lagoon Liner:

Fueling Station Diesel and Gas

10-927-5601 Fueling Station - diesel & gas 11,272.19 .00 .00

.00.0011,272.19Total Fueling Station Diesel and Gas:

SCADA Plant

10-928-5601 SCADA Plant .00 50,000.00 .00

.0050,000.00.00Total SCADA Plant:

Standby Generator Upgrade TP

10-929-5601 Standby Generator Upgrade TP 7,448.72 1,000,000.00 .74

.741,000,000.007,448.72Total Standby Generator Upgrade TP:

Existing 2nd Clarifier Removal

10-930-5601 Existing 2nd Clarifier Removal .00 55,000.00 .00

.0055,000.00.00Total Existing 2nd Clarifier Removal:

Diversion Box Valve and Gate

10-931-5601 Diversion Box Valve & Gate .00 60,000.00 .00

.0060,000.00.00Total Diversion Box Valve and Gate:

Anoxic Basin Improvements

10-932-5601 Anoxic Basin Improvements .00 60,000.00 .00

.0060,000.00.00Total Anoxic Basin Improvements:

Chlorine Contact Basin Improve

10-933-5601 Chlorine Contact Basin Improvm .00 50,000.00 .00

Lindscott closeout in July

87



Page: 14Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

.0050,000.00.00Total Chlorine Contact Basin Improve:

Battery Energy Storage System

10-934-5601 Battery Energy Storage System 453.75 26,000.00 1.75

1.7526,000.00453.75Total Battery Energy Storage System:

Primary Effluent Pump Optimiza

10-935-5601 Primary Effluent Pump Optimiza 93,393.45 1,175,000.00 7.95

7.951,175,000.0093,393.45Total Primary Effluent Pump Optimiza:

Secondary Effluent Line Modifi

10-936-5601 Secondary Effluent Line Mod 5,010.58 721,000.00 .69

.69721,000.005,010.58Total Secondary Effluent Line Modifi:

Aeration Sys Reliability Study

10-937-5601 Aeration Sys Reliability Study .00 75,000.00 .00

.0075,000.00.00Total Aeration Sys Reliability Study:

Levee Road Restoration

10-938-5601 Levee Road Restoration .00 150,000.00 .00

.00150,000.00.00Total Levee Road Restoration:

Cattail Dredging in Ponds

10-939-5601 Cattail Dredging in Ponds .00 100,000.00 .00

.00100,000.00.00Total Cattail Dredging in Ponds:

2.6124,447,835.00638,563.04General Revenue Total:

13.4938,055,747.005,133,034.57General Expenditure Total:

33.0313,607,912.00-4,494,471.53-Total General:

88



Page: 15Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

Marin Lagoon

Investment Income

20-370-4710 Bank Interest - Marin Lagoon 139.65 400.00 34.91

34.91400.00139.65Total Investment Income:

Marin Lagoon Expenses

20-540-5000 Regular Staff Salaries .00 9,100.00 .00

20-540-5010 Overtime .00 600.00 .00

20-540-5312 Grounds Maintenance .00 500.00 .00

20-540-5317 Equipment Repair .00 1,000.00 .00

20-540-5319 Capital Repair / Replacement .00 1,000.00 .00

.0012,200.00.00Total Marin Lagoon Expenses:

Marin Lagoon Capital Improvmnt

20-812-5601 Marin Lagoon Pump Station 2,142.00 60,000.00 3.57

3.5760,000.002,142.00Total Marin Lagoon Capital Improvmnt:

34.91400.00139.65Marin Lagoon Revenue Total:

2.9772,200.002,142.00Marin Lagoon Expenditure Total:

2.7971,800.00-2,002.35-Total Marin Lagoon:

89



Page: 16Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

PercentAccount Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

Captain's Cove

Investment Income

30-370-4710 Bank Interest - Captains Cove 28.44 250.00 11.38

11.38250.0028.44Total Investment Income:

Captain's Cove Expenses

30-520-5000 Regular Staff Salaries .00 10,000.00 .00

30-520-5315 Equipment Maintenance .00 700.00 .00

30-520-5317 Equipment Repair .00 1,800.00 .00

30-520-5423 Telephone and Cell Services .00 100.00 .00

.0012,600.00.00Total Captain's Cove Expenses:

Captains Cove Capital Improvmt

30-913-5601 Captain Cove Pump Station Upgr .00 18,000.00 .00

.0018,000.00.00Total Captains Cove Capital Improvmt:

11.38250.0028.44Captain's Cove Revenue Total:

.0030,600.00.00Captain's Cove Expenditure Total:

.09-30,350.00-28.44Total Captain's Cove:

90



Page: 17Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

PercentAccount Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

Connection Fees

Investment Income

40-370-4712 Interest Connection Fees CapX 10,988.66 21,780.00 50.45

50.4521,780.0010,988.66Total Investment Income:

Connection Fees CapX

40-380-4820 Connection Fees CapX 11,564.00 320,420.00 3.61

3.61320,420.0011,564.00Total Connection Fees CapX:

6.59342,200.0022,552.66Connection Fees Revenue Total:

6.59342,200.0022,552.66Total Connection Fees:

91



Page: 18Budget Worksheet - Current Year - Actual to Budget ComparisonLas Gallinas Valley Sanitary District

Period 07/24 (07/31/2024) - 09/24 (09/30/2024) Oct 31, 2024 10:36AM

Account Number Account Title

2024-25
Current year

Actual

2024-25
Adopted
Budget

Earned
Expended

Percent

Recycled Water

Recycled Water Charges

60-320-4210 Recycled Water .00 143,400.00 .00

.00143,400.00.00Total Recycled Water Charges:

Investment Income

60-370-4710 Interest RW Cap Resv 10% x3983 .00 1,580.00 .00

60-370-4715 Interest on RW CD x5679 758.30 3,050.00 24.86

16.384,630.00758.30Total Investment Income:

Other Nonoperating

60-380-4830 MMWD Buy-in & Bond Share CapX 26,889.69 613,657.00 4.38

60-380-4840 RW Cap Repair & Replace 10% .00 15,940.00 .00

4.27629,597.0026,889.69Total Other Nonoperating:

Recycled Water Expenses

60-620-5000 Regular Staff Salaries 2,087.70 12,900.00 16.18

60-620-5010 Overtime 607.94 .00 .00

60-620-5211 General Operating Supplies .00 300.00 .00

60-620-5284 Laboratory Supplies .00 2,200.00 .00

60-620-5315 Equipment Maintenance .00 2,100.00 .00

60-620-5317 Equipment Repair .00 4,900.00 .00

60-620-5341 Environmental 981.90 25,600.00 3.84

60-620-5345 SCADA Engineering Support .00 23,800.00 .00

60-620-5361 Consulting IT Services .00 7,600.00 .00

60-620-5362 Incidental Software .00 7,800.00 .00

60-620-5423 Telephone and Cell Services 673.87 400.00 168.47

4.9787,600.004,351.41Total Recycled Water Expenses:

Recycled Water Capital Imprvmt

60-851-5601 Recycled Water Facility .00 2,000.00 .00

.002,000.00.00Total Recycled Water Capital Imprvmt:

3.56777,627.0027,647.99Recycled Water Revenue Total:

4.8689,600.004,351.41Recycled Water Expenditure Total:

3.39688,027.0023,296.58Total Recycled Water:

35.1012,679,835.00-4,450,596.20-Grand Totals:

92



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\11072024\GFOA COA\ASR GFOA COA.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: November 7, 2024 

Re: Presentation of Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 

Item Type:   Consent    Action        Information      X Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to receive presentation of Certificate of Achievement of Excellence in Financial Reporting 

from Government Finance Officers Association. 

 
BACKGROUND   
On September 11, 2024, the Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and 
Canada (GFOA) awarded the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District for its annual comprehensive financial report for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2023. This is the twelfth consecutive year that the District has been awarded 
a Certificate of Achievement. The report has been judged by an impartial panel to meet the high 
standards of the program, which includes demonstrating a constructive "spirit of full disclosure" to 
clearly communicate its financial story and motivate potential users and user groups to read the 
report. 
 
The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in the area of governmental 
accounting and financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant accomplishment by 
a government and its management.  
 

In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily 
readable and efficiently organized annual comprehensive financial report. This report must satisfy 
both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. 
 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
None 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no impact for receiving this award. 

Item Number_______4.4_______ 

GM Review   _____CP_________ 

93

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


9/11/2024

Curtis Paxton
General Manager
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, California

Dear Curtis:

We are pleased to notify you that your annual comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2023 qualifies for GFOA's Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. 
The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in governmental accounting and 
financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant accomplishment by a government and its 
management.

When a Certificate of Achievement is awarded to a government, an Award of Financial Reporting 
Achievement (AFRA) is also presented to the individual(s) or department designated by the government 
as primarily responsible for its having earned the Certificate. This award has been sent to the submitter as 
designated on the application.

We hope that you will arrange for a formal presentation of the Certificate and Award of Financial 
Reporting Achievement, and give appropriate publicity to this notable achievement. A sample news 
release is included to assist with this effort.

We hope that your example will encourage other government officials in their efforts to achieve and 
maintain an appropriate standard of excellence in financial reporting.

Sincerely,

Michele Mark Levine
Director, Technical Services

94



95



96



97



98



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\11072024\Hazen Biosolids Management Strategy  Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 
 (415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Meeting Date: November 7, 2024 
Re: Hazen & Sawyer Biosolids Management Strategy Proposal 
Item Type:   Consent_______ Action___X____ Information_______ Other________ 

Standard Contract:    Yes__X__   No_____(See attached)  Not Applicable_______ 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve Hazen & Sawyer’s proposal for Biosolids Management Strategy in the amount of 
$199,640. 

BACKGROUND  
On September 25, 2024, District staff reviewed with the Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee a proposal from 
Hazen & Sawyer to prepare a comprehensive plan for the District’s long-range biosolids management 
strategy with the following objectives: 
 

1. Evaluate existing sludge and solids handling equipment at the plant and reclamation area, identify 
large capital expenditures, and develop a phased replacement plan as part of the Capital 
Improvement Program. 
 

2. Evaluate near-term needs for a five-year horizon and future long-term regulatory challenges, 
emerging treatment process technologies, and cost-benefit analyses of potential revenue sources 
such as collaborative biosolids land application opportunities with neighboring sanitary districts. 
  

3. Develop cost-effective alternatives for the current practice of agricultural biosolids land application 
that started in 2022, under a permit issued by the Regional Water Quality Control Board 
(RWQCB) that will expire in February 2026. As part of the transfer of the GHD contract to 
Parsons for the remaining tasks outlined in the permit, staff directed Parsons to remove all tasks 
associated with biosolids management strategy in their scope. Parsons agreed to communicate 
institutional knowledge to Hazen on an as-needed basis as part of their contract. 

 
Prior to the September 25, 2024 meeting, on July 26, 2024, District staff presented to the Biosolids Ad 
Hoc Committee a proposal from West Yost in addition to the Hazen proposal. District staff informally 
requested the proposals without issuing a formal Request for Proposals. Both proposals provided a 
broad overview of potential biosolids management strategies. While both consultants appear qualified for 
the discrete tasks that staff requested, the Ad Hoc Committee concurred with staff recommendation to 
award a contract to Hazen. Staff based the recommendation on Hazen’s understanding of existing 
District facilities from recent projects and studies, and history of their good working relationship with the 
District. 
 
 

Item Number____5________ 

GM Review   ____CP__________ 

 

99

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\11072024\Hazen Biosolids Management Strategy  Page 2 of 2 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION(S) 
N/A 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The proposal will exceed the existing feasibility study budget of $74,000. Management will reallocate 
funding from other operations & maintenance accounts as part of the the mid-year budget revision, 
primarily from the reclamation area land application account, to cover the shortall. 

100



 

 hazenandsawyer.com 

Hazen and Sawyer 

90 New Montgomery Street, Suite 333 

San Francisco, CA 94105 

 

 

September 16, 2024 

Mr. Mike Cortez, PE 

District Engineer 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

101 Lucas Valley Road Suite 300 

San Rafael, CA 94903  

Re: Feasibility Study for Biosolids Treatment and Beneficial Disposal, Revision 1 

Dear Mr. Cortez: 

The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (District) operates a wastewater collection and treatment system 

in Marin California, north of and partially including the City of San Rafael serving a population of 

approximately 30,000. The District’s collection system includes 35 pump stations, 3,064 manholes, 3,121 

gravity pipes, and 80 force mains. Wastewater is then treated at the District’s Wastewater Treatment Plant 

(WWTP) located at 300 Smith Ranch Road.  The average dry weather flow design capacity is 2.92 

Million Gallons per Day (MGD), with peak flows up to 25 MGD typically occurring during extreme wet 

weather storm conditions. 

The liquid treatment processes at the WWTP include the following, in order of flow: 

• Headworks with two mechanically cleaned screens 

• Two aerated grit chambers 

• Three primary clarifiers 

• New secondary treatment with four anoxic basins and four aeration basins 

• Two secondary clarifiers 

• Two chlorine contact basins (underground) 

o Disinfection using sodium hypochlorite 

o Dechlorination using sodium bisulfite 

• Ponds for effluent storage 

• Recycled water system 

 

 

101



September 16, 2024 

Page 2 

The solid treatment processes including the following, in order of flow: 

• Primary sludge (from the primary clarifiers) to the thickener 

• Waste activated sludge (WAS) (from the secondary clarifiers) to the thickener 

• Gravity thickener 

• Primary digester 

• Secondary digester 

• Digested Sludge Pump Station 

• Lagoons and/or land disposal 

Hazen and Sawyer (Hazen) has been assisting the District with several projects in the collection system 

and WWTP, including multiple on-call task orders, development of a hydraulic model, updating of design 

standards, peer reviews related to the secondary treatment system, and construction support services at the 

WWTP. The District’s goal is to convert their biosolids into a beneficial resource, and Hazen looks 

forward to continuing to help the District by assisting with evaluating biosolids treatment and beneficial 

disposal, as described in this proposal. 

With that background, the District is faced with the challenge of distinguishing between the firms 

proposing. Each firm will offer extensive experience and staff qualifications and provide supporting 

documentation about their unique knowledge of the District’s facilities. The following are key messages 

that help define and distinguish the Hazen Team, who have completed similar assignments locally as well 

as throughout the country: 

Understanding the District’s Assets 

and Needs. Hazen is working on 

several projects for the District, 

including preparing a hydraulic model 

for the collection system, updating 

and managing nine task orders. This 

has included reviewing the WPO TM 

and providing construction support 

services related to the Secondary 

Treatment Hydraulic Improvements.  

Hazen, with the District’s 

cooperation, is also working with 

several developers to help them 

evaluate the impact of their new 

wastewater flows on the District’s 

collection and treatment system, using 

the District Standards to provide uniformity for these evaluations.    

The Hazen Team’s Wastewater Experience 

102



September 16, 2024 

Page 3 

A Proven Team with a Local, Committed, and Accessible Project Manager Who Produces 

Results. Our Team, led by Gregg Cummings, consists of the same core members who 

recently delivered on the District’s On-Call task orders and other projects. Gregg is 
committed to being accessible and providing the highest level of service to the 
District. 

Experience with Biosolids Management.  Recently, Hazen completed biosolids projects for 

Town of Windsor, Goleta Sanitary District, and Union Sanitary District, and we will bring our 

same experienced team to efficiently and effectively assist the District with biosolids planning. 

Hazen is pleased to provide the proposal, which includes General Firm Information, Project 

Understanding and Approach, and a Compensation Matrix. 

The local Hazen Team offers exceptional service, recent experience with Biosolids Management for other 

agencies, and an understanding of the District’s unique needs, making Hazen an outstanding choice for 

this assignment. We confirm that Hazen can meet the required insurance levels, agrees to the previously 

negotiated contract language, and that Marc Solomon has authority to negotiate and contractually bind 

Hazen. If you have any questions about this proposal, please do not hesitate to contact Gregg Cummings 

at gcummings@hazenandsawyer.com or (415) 307-9505. 

Sincerely,        

Hazen 

 

  

Gregg A. Cummings, PE     Marc Solomon, PE, BCEE, D.WRE 

Project Manager/Senior Associate    Principal-In-Charge/Vice President 

 

Cc:  Irene Huang, PE 

  

103



September 16, 2024 

Page 4 

General Firm Information 

Hazen is a nationally and internationally recognized environmental engineering consulting firm founded 

in 1951, with over 1,700 employees who specialize in the engineering and construction of wastewater, 

water, and stormwater facilities. Hazen has eight offices in California, including four in the Bay Area 

with over 40 staff. We are currently conducting several projects for the District, including the Digester 

Room MCC-2 Upgrade, Collection System Hydraulic Model Development, Updating Design Standards, 

and As-Needed Engineering and On-Call Services.  Hazen is also working with District staff and 

developers on four development projects using District Standards. 

Hazen’s Firm Project References, Organizational Chart, Brief Resumes of Key Staff, and Hourly Rates 

are included at the end of this proposal. 

Project Understanding and Approach 

Project Understanding and Objectives 

The District’s WWTP provides secondary wastewater treatment. Solids are removed from the primary 

and secondary clarifiers to the gravity thickener. Thickened sludge is then transferred to the Primary and 

Secondary Digesters, which are operated in series. Digested sludge is sent to the Digested Sludge Pump 

Station, where it is pumped to the lagoons for storage prior to being spread on the District’s nine acre 

property.  From a regulatory perspective, this is generally considered “biosolids surface disposal,” which 

the District elected to discontinue in 2022 after several decades in practice. 

In alignment with the District’s goal of transitioning from surface disposal to beneficial use starting 2023, 

the Regional Water Quality Control Board (Regional Board) in mid-2022 issued a Notice of Applicability 

(NOA) to the District to land apply biosolids as a soil amendment in agricultural activities in the 

Reclamation Area under the State’s General Order. As a condition of approval, the Regional Board 

required the District to participate in the Purdue University 3-year Environmental Protection Agency 

(EPA) Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) and Unregulated Organic Chemicals in Biosolids 

research project. Notwithstanding the NOA and research program requirements for beneficial use, the 

District retained surface disposal as a contingency plan in its biosolids management program. Such 

contingency plan provides flexibility for the District to develop a more comprehensive roadmap of near-

term and long-term biosolids management strategies before or after expiration the NOA and research 

program in 2025. 

 

The near-term roadmap (next 5-years) is based on the following: 
• Providing compliance to the reporting and monitoring requirements of the current NOA 

and EPA research program by understanding and delineating parallel activities outlined 

in the agreement with GHD for Sampling, Monitoring, and Reporting Services. The 

District anticipates transferring the remainder of the current contract with GHD (expires 

in 2025) to Parsons by end of September 2024 to provide uninterrupted project 

management services by the current project manager who moved to Parsons. 

• Providing regulatory compliance support services to EOA (current District permit 

consultant) as it relates to Biosolids. 

104



September 16, 2024 

Page 5 

• Developing land application methods to be utilized starting 2025. The District utilized an 

unused 66-acre acre portion of the 304 acres property in 2023 and has awarded a contract 

for the same method in July 2024.  

• Evaluating potential revenue generation from hay or other crops as products of land 

application (Tentative implementation if feasible: 2026) 

• Evaluating options for increasing the beneficial use of biosolids as final cover material 

for landfills or fertilizer (Tentative implementation if feasible: 2026). 

• Investigating potential green waste/biosolids composting opportunity with privately 

owned Marin Sanitary Service (Tentative implementation if feasible: 2027).  

• Evaluating collaborative biosolids land application opportunity with neighboring Marin 

County sanitary districts. A 2020 feasibility study by HDR indicates that essentially 304 

acres in the Reclamation area is feasible for land application of biosolids. CMSA, SASM, 

Belvedere-Tiburon, and SMCSD supplied letters of interest in 2020. (Tentative 

implementation if feasible: 2028). 

 

The long-term roadmap (2030 and beyond) is based on the following: 
• Planning, design, and construction of post-digestion and solids handling facilities in the 

Reclamation Area. 

• Evaluating technologies that replace anaerobic digestion. 

• Evaluating commercially proven thermal treatment process technologies for biosolids 

such as incineration. 

• Evaluating emerging thermal treatment process technologies for biosolids such as 

gasification, pyrolysis, and post digestion solids/gas handling. 

• Evaluating potential revenue generation such as biochar and biofuel. 

• Developing portfolio framework. 

The District would like to evaluate options for increasing the beneficial use of the District’s biosolids. 

These options may include using biosolids as fertilizer and composting. 

Scope of Work 
 

The following scope of work reflects an integrated approach to provide technical services, project 

management, and coordination for assisting the District with Biosolids Treatment and Beneficial 

Disposal.     

Task 1 – Project Management and Quality Control 

Objectives: To successfully manage the scope, schedule, budget, and quality control to conduct the 

feasibility study. 

Tasks: The Project Manager will be responsible for managing the project, including confirming quality 

control reviews. Hazen will: 

• Provide overall technical, financial, and administrative management for the task order and 

maintain effective communication with the District project staff. Specific project 

management activities include work coordination and scheduling, project budget and 

105



September 16, 2024 

Page 6 

schedule monitoring, subcontracting, preparation of monthly invoices, and project status 

reports. 

• Alert the District Project Manager if significant scope, budget or scheduling concerns 

arise, so that Hazen and the District Project Manager can come to a mutually agreed-upon 

solution. 

• Coordinate Quality Assurance / Quality Control activities for the task order. 

• Prepare and submit monthly status reports. 

Assumptions: 

• The project will run from July 1, 2024, through February 28, 2025. 

Meetings:  The following meetings are included in this task: 

• Meetings are included in Task 3. 

Deliverables:  The following deliverables are included in this task: 

• Monthly progress reports,. 

 

Task 2 – Kickoff Meeting and Background Document Review 

Objectives: To review available documents in preparation for the feasibility study and conduct an initial 

project kickoff meeting. 

Tasks:  Hazen will:  

• Coordinate a 2-hour Kickoff Meeting and Site Visit to review the scope, schedule, and 

budget for the project with District staff, obtain relevant documents, and discuss project 

overview to better understand the District’s concerns and goals for this project. For 

meetings included in this project Hazen will prepare and distribute agenda in pdf format 

via email. 

• Review background documentation provided by the District and develop a list of 

documents reviewed along with a short description of each document.  Anticipated 

documents to review include: 

o Land Application Studies for the 304-acre District property by HDR (see dropbox 

links: 

1. https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/x6m0npsttl154zsdz39pi/LGVSD_TM_L

and_Application_Site_Feasibility_Study_TM_20200914.pdf?rlkey=t3kta

lwjh5lnogjsuwdn7jtjo&dl=0 

2. https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/ipo3mwje34j1nhl1ohagp/LGVSD_TM_

Land_Application_Site_Feasibility_Study_TM_20200916.pdf?rlkey=e5

kgio7a3bk5hw2xo1ed52uav&dl=0 

106

https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/x6m0npsttl154zsdz39pi/LGVSD_TM_Land_Application_Site_Feasibility_Study_TM_20200914.pdf?rlkey=t3ktalwjh5lnogjsuwdn7jtjo&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/x6m0npsttl154zsdz39pi/LGVSD_TM_Land_Application_Site_Feasibility_Study_TM_20200914.pdf?rlkey=t3ktalwjh5lnogjsuwdn7jtjo&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/x6m0npsttl154zsdz39pi/LGVSD_TM_Land_Application_Site_Feasibility_Study_TM_20200914.pdf?rlkey=t3ktalwjh5lnogjsuwdn7jtjo&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/ipo3mwje34j1nhl1ohagp/LGVSD_TM_Land_Application_Site_Feasibility_Study_TM_20200916.pdf?rlkey=e5kgio7a3bk5hw2xo1ed52uav&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/ipo3mwje34j1nhl1ohagp/LGVSD_TM_Land_Application_Site_Feasibility_Study_TM_20200916.pdf?rlkey=e5kgio7a3bk5hw2xo1ed52uav&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/ipo3mwje34j1nhl1ohagp/LGVSD_TM_Land_Application_Site_Feasibility_Study_TM_20200916.pdf?rlkey=e5kgio7a3bk5hw2xo1ed52uav&dl=0


September 16, 2024 

Page 7 

3. https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/9ufgr9i7oxj9kqczjym5o/Appendix-

A.pdf?rlkey=knc8pxr7dfmxfqme3xmrsgbg9&dl=0 

 

o Existing Notice of Intent (NOI) and Notice of Applicability (NOA). See 
dropbox link: 
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/ps2r5uhbdg0e031/AACzxMKCWPx66ZCeJZm36KE
Ka?dl=0 

 

o Existing Composting Feasibility Study and Hay Marketability and Value. See 

dropbox links: 

1. https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/w6iow8jfa0taiyjzn8tw2/Biosolids-

Compost-Market-Research-Report-

Final.pdf?rlkey=az4ptho6lnqtnw5o5f703vsof&dl=0  

2. https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/eyduz7ckx3kki733y8pc4/LGVSD-Hay-

Marketability-and-

Value.pdf?rlkey=ml6yvavvusmxz3lghc1pn79cu&dl=0 

3. https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/oyc7natcsj04r6cqu3lqo/12586396-

MEM-Regional-Biosolids-Compost-Facility-Basis-of-

Planning_rev1.pdf?rlkey=5wdsvfoo6ualsqshnx29vbdw9&dl=0 

• Develop a list of additional information required for the study, if required. 

Assumptions: 

• The District will provide the documents to be reviewed. 

• The following is excluded:  Sampling, Monitoring, and Reporting Services for NOA and 

MRP Compliance as outlined in the current District contract with GHD. See dropbox link: 

https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/zuhgi5ahb9u3mh5tl5b6p/GHD_Proposal_LGVSD_Bioso

lids_Program_Support_20220922rev1_received-10-12-

22.pdf?rlkey=huwo0s5peeld7io0xko7vrxlu&dl=0 

Meetings:  The following meetings are included in this task: 

• One Kickoff Meeting and Site visit, to be conducted at the WWTP. 

Deliverables:  The following deliverables are included in this task: 

• Meeting agenda and minutes. 

• Request for additional information, if required, delivered via email. 

• List of documents reviewed. 

 

107

https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/9ufgr9i7oxj9kqczjym5o/Appendix-A.pdf?rlkey=knc8pxr7dfmxfqme3xmrsgbg9&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/9ufgr9i7oxj9kqczjym5o/Appendix-A.pdf?rlkey=knc8pxr7dfmxfqme3xmrsgbg9&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/ps2r5uhbdg0e031/AACzxMKCWPx66ZCeJZm36KEKa?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/sh/ps2r5uhbdg0e031/AACzxMKCWPx66ZCeJZm36KEKa?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/w6iow8jfa0taiyjzn8tw2/Biosolids-Compost-Market-Research-Report-Final.pdf?rlkey=az4ptho6lnqtnw5o5f703vsof&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/w6iow8jfa0taiyjzn8tw2/Biosolids-Compost-Market-Research-Report-Final.pdf?rlkey=az4ptho6lnqtnw5o5f703vsof&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/w6iow8jfa0taiyjzn8tw2/Biosolids-Compost-Market-Research-Report-Final.pdf?rlkey=az4ptho6lnqtnw5o5f703vsof&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/eyduz7ckx3kki733y8pc4/LGVSD-Hay-Marketability-and-Value.pdf?rlkey=ml6yvavvusmxz3lghc1pn79cu&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/eyduz7ckx3kki733y8pc4/LGVSD-Hay-Marketability-and-Value.pdf?rlkey=ml6yvavvusmxz3lghc1pn79cu&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/eyduz7ckx3kki733y8pc4/LGVSD-Hay-Marketability-and-Value.pdf?rlkey=ml6yvavvusmxz3lghc1pn79cu&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/oyc7natcsj04r6cqu3lqo/12586396-MEM-Regional-Biosolids-Compost-Facility-Basis-of-Planning_rev1.pdf?rlkey=5wdsvfoo6ualsqshnx29vbdw9&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/oyc7natcsj04r6cqu3lqo/12586396-MEM-Regional-Biosolids-Compost-Facility-Basis-of-Planning_rev1.pdf?rlkey=5wdsvfoo6ualsqshnx29vbdw9&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/oyc7natcsj04r6cqu3lqo/12586396-MEM-Regional-Biosolids-Compost-Facility-Basis-of-Planning_rev1.pdf?rlkey=5wdsvfoo6ualsqshnx29vbdw9&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/zuhgi5ahb9u3mh5tl5b6p/GHD_Proposal_LGVSD_Biosolids_Program_Support_20220922rev1_received-10-12-22.pdf?rlkey=huwo0s5peeld7io0xko7vrxlu&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/zuhgi5ahb9u3mh5tl5b6p/GHD_Proposal_LGVSD_Biosolids_Program_Support_20220922rev1_received-10-12-22.pdf?rlkey=huwo0s5peeld7io0xko7vrxlu&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/zuhgi5ahb9u3mh5tl5b6p/GHD_Proposal_LGVSD_Biosolids_Program_Support_20220922rev1_received-10-12-22.pdf?rlkey=huwo0s5peeld7io0xko7vrxlu&dl=0


September 16, 2024 

Page 8 

Task 3 – Meetings and Site Visits 

Objectives: To visit the site and meet with District staff during key points in the study. 

Tasks:  Hazen will:  

• Conduct two 2-hour site visits, including on-site discussions with District staff, and 

provide a brief email summary from the visit. 

• Participate in four 1-hour Project calls to discuss the project status and receive input on 

deliverables and questions. 

Assumptions: 

• The District will provide site access for Site Visit and will provide access to District staff 

for on-site discussions. 

• Meetings will be coordinated Hazen and will be conducted by MS Teams. 

• Hazen will be responsible for meeting agenda and minutes. 

• Confined space entry, material testing, and sampling are not included.   

Meetings:  The following meetings are included in this task: 

• Two 2-hour Site Visit 

• Four 1-hour Project calls. 

Deliverables:  The following deliverables are included in this task: 

• Meeting agenda and minutes, delivered as pdf via email. 

• Site visit notes, delivered as pdf via email. 
 

Task 4 – Evaluate Existing Solids Handling 

Objectives:  To review the District’s existing biosolids treatment system to determine the feasibility of 

producing Class A Biosolids. 

Tasks:  Hazen will:  

• Review with the District’s team, the current and estimated future sludge production to be 

processed in terms of flows and loads. In evaluating and sizing technologies, Hazen will 

review observed historical data, the peaking factors including max month and max two 

weeks for proper sizing. 

• Conduct a desktop review of the existing Thickener, Digesters, and Lagoons to determine 

estimated remaining lifespans for these processes and the potential to develop Class A 

biosolids from these facilities. Producing Class A Biosolids is becoming desirable for 

various utilities across the US due to pressures on the beneficial use of Class B Biosolids 

108



September 16, 2024 

Page 9 

when practicing land application. A recent trend we observed is that end use market 

conditions favor Class A dried material as compared to Class A dewatered cake. 

• Identify potential outside sources of sludge to be treated by the District’s solids handling 

facilities and estimate the feasibility and cost effectiveness of treating sludge from outside 

sources. 

• Conduct preliminary evaluation of applicable Class A Biosolids technologies and develop 

a shortlist of two to three technologies for detailed evaluation to arrive at the 

recommended technology for implementation at the District WWTP. 

• Prepare and submit a Technical Memorandum (TM) summarizing the results of this task. 

• Conduct a two-hour meeting with District staff to review the preliminary findings and 

confirm a short-list of technologies to evaluate further. 

Assumptions: 

• The District currently produces Class AB Sludge. 

• District will provide data on existing solids handling facilities.  

Meetings:  The following meetings are included in this task: 

• One 2-hour meeting 

Deliverables:  The following deliverables are included in this task: 

• TM summarizing the results of Task 4. 

Task 5 – Conduct Evaluation of Short-Listed Solids Handling 
Technologies 

Objectives: To build upon the results of Task 4 and identify preferred technologies for solids handling. 

Tasks:  Hazen will:  

• Evaluate dewatering and thickening technologies. Drying and thickening is typically 

required to improve sludge quality at the WWTP. Also, if the District is interested in 

offering an option to the surrounding agencies to dispose and treat their sludge, then the 

imported sludge will also require dewatering and thickening.  

• Evaluate the size and components of a receiving station to arrive at the proper 

configuration. 

• Evaluate digestion alternatives, including rehabilitation and replacement of the existing 

digesters. 

• Evaluate thermal drying technologies and evaluate bio drying. 

• Evaluate solar drying. This technology is more a greenhouse type drying of the dewatered 

sludge, where the dewatered sludge is spread on a concrete slab and turned over 

automatically to further dry the sludge.  

109

pquinn
Rectangle



September 16, 2024 

Page 10 

• For construction cost, Hazen will contact the appropriate vendors for each technology and 

obtain sizing and equipment budgetary quotes and develop construction cost of each 

technology. For operating and maintenance cost (O&M), Hazen will consider energy 

consumption, staff requirements and maintenance requirements to determine the annual 

O&M cost for each technology. The construction and annual O&M costs will be used to 

arrive at the 20-year Life Cycle Cost (LCC). 

• Prepare and submit a Basis of Design TM summarizing the results of this task. 

• Conduct a two-hour meeting with District staff to review the findings. 

Assumptions: 

• District will assist with identify potential sources of outside sludge.  

Meetings:  The following meetings are included in this task: 

• One 2-hour meeting 

Deliverables:  The following deliverables are included in this task: 

• TM summarizing the results of Task 5. 

Task 6 – Capture Near-Term and Long-Term Objectives 

Objectives: To build upon the results of Tasks 2 through 5 to capture Near-Term and Long-Term 

Objectives. 

Tasks:  Hazen will:  

• Develop an evaluation matrix (Hazen’s Converge Model) for evaluating Near-Term and Long-

Term objectives. 

• Coordinate a 1-hour meeting with the District to review the evaluation matrix and incorporate 

District input. 

• Evaluate Near-Term and Long-Term Objectives,  These objectives are anticipated to include: 

o Near-Term – compliance with NOA and EPA research, develop potential land application 

methods, identify potential agricultural revenue, evaluate beneficial use options, 

investigate green waste / biosolids composting opportunities, and evaluate collaborative 

biosolids land application opportunities 

o Long-Term – develop post-digestion and solids handling planning, evaluate options for 

anaerobic digestion replacement, evaluate potential thermal treatment processes, review 

emerging treatment processes, identify potential revenue generation (e.g., biochar, 

biofuel), and develop a portfolio framework. 

• Prepare a TM summarizing the results of Tasks 2 through 5. 

• Present the results to the District in a 1-hour meeting. 

• Finalize the TM, incorporating District comments.  

110



September 16, 2024 

Page 11 

Assumptions: 

• District will review and provide input on the Near-Term and Long-Term objectives.  

Meetings:  The following meetings are included in this task: 

• One 2-hour meeting 

Deliverables:  The following deliverables are included in this task: 

• TM summarizing the results of Task 2 through 5. 

Schedule  

The proposed for this project is summarized below: 

• Notice to Proceed: October 1, 2024 

• Kickoff Meeting and Background Document Review:  October - December 2024 

• Meetings and Site Visits:  October 2024 to January 2025 

• Evaluate Existing Solids Handling: January to March 2025 

• Conduct Detailed Evaluation:  April to June  2025 

• Capture Near-Term and Long-Term Objectives:  June to July 2025 

• End of Project:  July 2025 

Budget 

 
The budget for this project is $199,640: 

 

Task No. Task Name Hours Budget 

1 Project Management and Quality Control 51 $15,910 

2 Kickoff Meeting and Background Document Review 51 $10,630 

3 Meetings and Site Visits 49 $11,880 

4 Evaluate Existing Solids Handling 194 $43,780 

5 Conduct Evaluation of Short-Listed Solids Handling 

Technologies 

310 $72,810 

6 Capture Near-Term and Long-Term Objectives 194 $44,630 

        

Total   849 $199,640 

 

  

111

pquinn
Rectangle

pquinn
Callout
Dates to be adjusted accordingly after signing contract.



September 16, 2024 

Page 12 

Firm Project References  
 

Goleta Sanitary District Biosolids and Energy Strategic Plan, Goleta Sanitary 

District, Goleta, CA 

The District identified future risks based on a significant increase in energy 

costs and demands for the direct and indirect potable water reuse programs. 

Other risks are the loss of one of the existing biosolids beneficial use outlets 

and increased pressure from regulatory perspectives on beneficial use of 

biosolids. To mitigate the future risks, the District established several 

priorities and goals and initiated a biosolids and energy strategic plan. 

 
Relevant Highlights Reference 

• Focus on recovering energy and expanding 

beneficial biosolids use 

• Selected upgrades to mitigate future risks 

• Thermal drying was found to be most beneficial 

Steve Wagner, General Manager 
(805) 967-4519 | swagner@goletasanitary.org 

 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, As-Needed Engineering and On-Call, San 

Rafael CA 

As part of Hazen’s As-Needed Engineering and On-Call contracts, we 

assisted the District apply District Standards for 245 Nova Albion and 

reviewed the connection request for the Los Gamos development. Hazen 

also assisted the District with obtaining air permits and reviewing submittals 

for a new generator, evaluating Administration Building constructability, 

and conducting a condition assessment inspection of a digester. 

 
Relevant Highlights Reference 

• Familiarity with District Standards 

• Understanding of developer requirements 

• Constructability and permitting assistance 

Ms. Irene Huang, PE, | LGVSD  
(415) 472-1734 | ihuang@lgvsd.org  

San Francisco International Airport, Mel Leong Treatment Plant, Long Term 

Strategy, San Francisco, CA 
 

The Airport tasked Hazen and Sawyer with the LTS project, with the end 

goal of developing a 30-year roadmap for upgrades at MLTP. Hazen is 

currently utilizing its approach of comprehend, explore, and converge to 

ensure the LTS provides detailed and actionable trigger-based roadmaps and 

capital investment estimates for the Airport. 

 
Relevant Highlights Reference 

• Developed long-term strategy for a holistic 

approach 

• Worked with client’s engineers and operators to 

develop a collaborative biosolids approach 

• Solar drying and biodry/pyrolysis were selected 

as options for preliminary design 

Mark Costanzo, PM 
(650) 821-7809 | mark.costanzo@flysfo.com 

112



September 16, 2024 

Page 13 

 

Town of Windsor Engineering Consulting Services for Biosolids Treatment and 

Disposal, Windsor, CA 

The Town of Windsor brought in Hazen to reassess their biosolids 

management approaches to accommodate land application regulations, air 

pollutant mitigation and greenhouse gas emission requirements, and landfill 

bans on organic waste.   Hazen reviewed the Towns existing biosolids 

handling, evaluated Class A and Class B options, evaluated drying 

technologies, and developed a Basis of Design Technical Memorandum.  

 
Relevant Highlights Reference 

• Focus on expanding beneficial biosolids use 

and cost effectiveness of Class A versus Class 

B 

• Evaluated drying technologies  

• Paddle drying was found to be most beneficial 

Dave Ernst, Town Project Manager 
 

 

Organizational Chart 

The Hazen Team presented in the organizational chart below was selected based on two very important 

criteria: familiarity with the District and experience designing with solids handling projects. This is the 

same team that recently completed the Town of Windsor and Goleta Sanitary District biosolids studies. 

Our team members have the required technical and management expertise and are prepared to begin your 

project immediately.  

 

 
 

113



September 16, 2024 

Page 14 

A summary of Key Staff qualifications is presented below: 

Gregg Cummings, PE | Project Manager 

M.S., Environmental/Structural Engineering, San Jose State University  
B.S., Civil Engineering, University of California, Berkeley 

Professional Engineer 

Gregg will be the Project Manager and the day-to-day contact for the District. He 

has over 38 years of experience in the planning, design, and construction support 

of water, wastewater, and recycled water projects, utility upgrades, hydraulic 

modeling, and engineering support related to design standards. Gregg is 

currently the Project Manager for the District’s Digester Room MCC2, 

Collection System Hydraulic Model Development, and On-Call projects.  He is 

also Contract Manager and Technical Reviewer for SFPUC’s Wastewater and 

Stormwater Utilities Standards Project and Civil Design Manager for Union 

Sanitary Districts’ Campus Building project.  Gregg managed digester projects 

for Pinole-Hercules and a Wine Producer, and managed dewatering projects for 

SFPUC and Valley Water. 

Marc Solomon, PE, BCEE, W.DRE | Principal in Charge 

B.S., Civil Engineering, Duke University, North Carolina 

M.S., Public Health, Tulane University, Louisiana 

Professional Engineer, Water Treatment Plant Operator; Water Distribution System Operator 

Board Certified Environmental Engineer Diplomate, Water Resource Engineer, Value 

Engineering Certification 

Marc will be the Principal in Charge and responsible for ensuring that the 

resources are available for these projects. Marc is an accomplished principal and 

project manager on a wide range of wastewater projects. Marc’s broad project 

experience has exposed him to all phases of project planning, design, system 

modeling, system controls, construction management, and operational reliability. 

This unique and diverse experience enhances his project management abilities 

and his ability to work effectively with project teams and externally with elected 

officials, engineers, operators, contractors, and the general public. Marc is 

Project Manager/Contract Manager for several current District projects and has 

been principal in charge for our most recent biosolids studies for the Town of 

Windsor and Goleta Sanitary District, guiding the direction of those projects. 

Mohammad Abu-Orf, PhD | Technical Reviewer 

PhD, Environmental Engineering, University of Delaware 

M.S., Environmental Engineering, University of Delaware 

B.S. Civil Engineering, Birzeit University, Palestine 

With an extensive career spanning over 31 years, Dr. Abu-Orf is a seasoned 

expert in the field of biosolids master planning, process optimization, and 

conceptual design. Specializing in the areas of sludge dewatering, drying, 

stabilization, and energy recovery, Dr. Abu-Orf has successfully led numerous 

projects that have significantly improved operational efficiencies and 

environmental sustainability. Dr. Abu-Orf is Hazen’s Group Practice Leader, 

114



September 16, 2024 

Page 15 

with six patents as main inventor and more than 130 peer-review and conference 

proceedings. Dr. Abu-Orf has demonstrated exceptional leadership and 

technical prowess in managing complex projects. Dr. Abu-Orf’s comprehensive 

knowledge of residuals and process optimization has been instrumental in 

developing innovative solutions that enhance the performance of sludge 

treatment facilities. Mo has been the technical lead for our Town of Windsor and 

Goleta Sanitary District biosolids projects. 

C. Michael Bullard, PE | Technical Reviewer 

MCE, North Carolina State University 

BSCE, North Carolina State University 

Michael serves as Hazen and Sawyer’s National Residuals and Biosolids 

Mechanical Discipline Group Leader. With extensive experience in the full 

range of residuals and biosolids thickening, stabilization, dewatering, biogas 

utilization and treatment systems, Mr. Bullard is a recognized expert in the field. 

Mr. Bullard's areas of expertise include residuals and biosolids management, 

wastewater treatment facility design, and wastewater operations and process 

optimization. His comprehensive knowledge and hands-on experience make him 

an invaluable asset in advancing the field of residuals and biosolids 

management. Michael has been the technical lead for our Town of Windsor and 

Goleta Sanitary District biosolids projects. 

 

Allan Briggs, PE | Solids Handling 

M.S., Civil Engineering, University of Massachusetts, Amherst 

B.S., Chemical Engineering, University of the West Indies, St. Augustine, Trinidad and Tobago 

 

Allan is a Senior Environmental Engineer with over 23 years of international 

engineering experience and a deep understanding of the water and wastewater 

industry. He specializes in wastewater treatment processes, planning, design, 

and construction assistance. Allan’s expertise spans planning, pre-design, and 

design of water, wastewater, and recycled water infrastructure. He excels in 

construction support, project management, and strategic thinking, consistently 

delivering high-quality, efficient projects. Allan's forward-thinking approach 

and commitment to excellence make him a valuable asset in environmental 

engineering. 

 

Chris Portner, PE, CEP | Solids Handling 
 

M.S. Environmental Engineering, University of Maryland 

B.S. Chemical Engineering, University of California 

 

Chris is an accomplished professional specializing in cost-estimate services for 

a wide range of infrastructure projects. His expertise spans water treatment and 

115



September 16, 2024 

Page 16 

distribution, wastewater treatment and distribution, combined sewer overflow 

(CSO) reduction, recycled water treatment and distribution, and roadway 

reconstruction. He is an AACE Certified Estimating Professional, ensuring his 

proficiency in delivering accurate and reliable cost estimates. Mr. Portner's 

dedication and extensive experience make him an asset in the field of 

infrastructure development. 

Sergio Jimenez, EIT | Solids Handling 

M.S. Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of California, Berkeley 

B.S. Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of California, Davis 

Sergio is an Assistant Engineer I at Hazen and Sawyer assisting in wastewater 

projects. His studies at UC Davis and UC Berkeley have allowed him to become 

experienced in projects relating to water chemistry, wastewater treatment, and 

biological water treatment. Before joining Hazen and Sawyer, Sergio interned at 

Regional San, in Elk Grove, CA where he was exposed to conducting field work, 

and assisting staff with regulatory compliance reports. 

Emma Ressler, EIT | Solids Handling 

B.S. Environmental Engineering, Minor in Spanish Studies, Clemson University, South Carolina 

Emma is an Assistant Engineer II in the San Francisco office providing project 

engineering support to water and wastewater projects. She has experience in 

water and wastewater treatment design and condition assessment. Prior to 

Hazen, Emma earned a B.S. in environmental engineering from Clemson 

University. During her time at Clemson, she developed a strong foundation in 

environmental principles, advanced engineering techniques, and sustainable 

practices. 

116



 

 

 Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

To: Board of Directors 

From: Curtis Paxton, General Manager 
   (415) 526-1511; cpaxton@lgvsd.org 

Mtg. Date: November 7, 2024 

Re: 101 Lucas Valley Road Office Lease Renewal 

Item Type:   Consent   Action      X  Information           

Standard Contract:    Yes     No   X  (See attached) Not Applicable             . 
 

 

Staff recommends that the Board authorize the General Manager to execute an amendment to 
the Lease Agreement for 101 Lucas Valley Road with Rathlin Properties, LLC, extending the 
lease for five (5) years through 11/30/2029. 

BACKGROUND  
 
On 10/18/2019, the District executed a five (5) year lease agreement with Rathlin Properties LLC 
for 3,560 square feet of office space and 350 square feet of boardroom space (total = 3,910 
square feet) at 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA  93590.  The terms of the lease 
were for five years with an option to add two additional years, 12 months at a time, with an 
increase of 3% for each renewal period.  Since December of 2019, the Administration Department 
staff and Engineering Department staff have utilized this office space.  In addition, the Conference 
Room at the site has been used as the location for Board Meetings. 
 
The building (office space/boardroom) has worked well for the District over the past five years.  
The lease includes most of the furniture in the space as well. A five-year renewal of the lease is 
appropriate since necessary improvements to the Administration Building at the Treatment Plant 
(new construction or remodel) to accommodate staff currently occupying 101 Lucas Valley Road 
should be completed in approximately five years.    
 
Staff negotiated the proposed renewal with Rathlin Properties LLC.  Both parties desire to agree 
to a five-year renewal of the District exercising individual one-year options for the next two years.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item Number_______6_______ 

GM Review       CP__________ 

 

117



 

 

 Page 2 of 2 

 
 
The terms (existing and proposed) for the lease are: 
 

Current Lease 

Period Monthly Increase $/Sq Ft/Month 

12/1/2019 11/30/2020 $ 8,596   $ 2.20 

12/1/2020 11/30/2021 $ 8,854 $ 258 3% $ 2.26 

12/1/2021 11/30/2022 $ 9,119 $ 265 3% $ 2.33 

12/1/2022 11/30/2023 $ 9,393 $ 274 3% $ 2.40 

12/1/2023 11/30/2024 $ 9,675 $ 282 3% $ 2.47 

Proposed Lease 

Period Monthly Increase $/Sq Ft/Month 

12/1/2024 11/30/2025 $ 9,965 $ 290 3% $ 2.55 

12/1/2025 11/30/2026 $ 10,264 $ 299 3% $ 2.63 

12/1/2026 11/30/2027 $ 10,572 $ 308 3% $ 2.70 

12/1/2027 11/30/2028 $ 10,889 $ 317 3% $ 2.78 

12/1/2028 11/30/2029 $ 11,216 $ 282 3% $ 2.87 

 
In reviewing the possibility of moving to another leased property, the rates for similar type office 
spaces range from $2.50 - $3.75/square foot/month.  Additionally, the District would incur costs 
for new office furniture and information technology (IT) systems.  
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
10/17/2019:  Approval of lease agreement with Rathlin Properties LLC.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The Administration Department Budget for 2024/2025 contains adequate funding for the 
recommended lease renewal. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
None 

118



 

 
 

 

11/7/2024 
 

BOARD MEMBER REPORTS 
CLARK 

NBWA Board Committee, CASA Workforce Committee, 
Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee, Fleet 
Management Ad Hoc Committee, FutureSense Ad Hoc 
Committee, Energy Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 

MURRAY 
Marin LAFCO, Flood Zone 6,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, 
CASA Energy Committee, Development Ad Hoc Committee, 
SF Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Energy Ad Hoc Committee, 
Other Reports  
 

NITZBERG 
Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee, McInnis 
Marsh Ad Hoc Committee, Fleet Management Ad Hoc 
Committee, SF Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
  

ROBARDS 
Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, NBWRA, 
Engineering Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,  McInnis 
Marsh Ad Hoc Committee, Development Ad Hoc 
Committee, FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  

 
YEZMAN 

Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  Ad Hoc Engineering Sub-
Committee re: STPURWE, Marin Special Districts 
Association, Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 

AGENDA ITEM 7 

119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



                                                                                  AGENDA: ITEM 8A 
                                                                                  DATE: November 7, 2024            

REVISED 09062023 

 
 

BOARD MEMBER CONFERENCE/ 

 MEETING/WEBINAR ATTENDANCE REQUEST 
 

 

Date:___________Name:__________________________________________________ 

 

I would like to attend the __________________________________________Meeting 

of _____________________________________________________________________ 

To be held on the ______ day of ___________ from ________ a.m. / p.m. to 

_______day of ___________ from  _________ a.m. / p.m. 

Location of meeting:____________________________________________________ 

Actual meeting date(s):____________________________________________________ 

Meeting Type: (In person/Webinar/Conference)_______________________________ 

Purpose of Meeting:______________________________________________________  

Meeting relevance to District:__________________________________________  

 

Board Members to register for Webinars and Meetings   

                       YES  NO 

Request assistance from Board Secretary to register for Conference only:         

 

Board Directors to make their own Hotel Reservations and book their own 

transportation including airfare, taxi and/or shuttles. 

   

Frequency of Meeting: ____________________________________________________ 

 

Estimated Costs of Travel (if applicable):____________________________________ 

 

Date submitted to Board Secretary:________________________________________ 

 

Board approval obtained on Date:_________________________________________ 

 

Please submit this form to the Board Secretary no later than 1 week  prior to the 

Board Meeting.  

 

  

149



 

 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\11072024\8B Board Agenda Item Requests.docx 

11/7/2024 
 

BOARD AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS 
 

Agenda Item 8B 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report 

□ Presentation 

 

150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170


	Agenda 11072024
	1 Public Comment
	2 Closed Session
	3A Board minutes 10172024
	3B Check Warrant List 09062024-10242024
	3C Transfer of Biosolids Contract from GHD to Parsons_compiled
	3D Amendment 1 GHD Terra Linda Trunk Sewer
	3E Award of Contract for Rafael Meadows Fencing Improvements
	4.1 General Manager Report
	4.2 Administration Department Report
	4.3 First Quarter Treasurer's Report Sept 2024
	A-F Financial Reports.pdf
	A_1st QTR Treasurers Report Sept 2024
	B_CD 715679
	C_CD 716073
	D_LAIF Qtrly Interest 9-30-24
	E_Class
	E_07 July 20240731_STMT_CA-01-0138_399
	E_08 Aug 20240831_STMT_CA-01-0138_399
	E_09 Sept 20240930_STMT_CA-01-0138_399

	F_CAMP
	F_07 Statement July 31 2024
	F_08 Statement August 31 2024
	F_09 Statement September 30 2024



	4.4 GFOA Certificate
	4.5 Collections-Maintenance-Safety Dept Report
	5 Hazen Biosolids Management Strategy Proposal
	6 Lucas Valley Road Lease Renewal
	7 Board Member Reports
	7.2 Murray Other Reports
	8A Board Member Meeting-Conference Attendance Request 2024
	8B Board Agenda Item Requests
	9 Various Industry Articles



